UC San Diego UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Genetic engineering of cardiac progenitor cells for the treatment of cardiovascular disease and heart failure

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1v83v9gh

Author Fischer, Kimberlee Marie

Publication Date 2010

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

SAN DIEGO STATE UNIVERSITY

Genetic Engineering of Cardiac Progenitor Cells for the Treatment of

Cardiovascular Disease and Heart Failure

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in

Biology

by

Kimberlee Marie Fischer

Committee in charge:

University of California, San Diego

Professor David Traver

Professor Nicholas Spitzer

San Diego State University

Professor Mark A Sussman, Chair Professor Christopher Glembotski Professor Ralph Feuer

The Dissertation of Kimberlee Marie Fischer is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:

Chair

University of California, San Diego

San Diego State University

2010

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my family. I thank my mom and dad, Karl and Pamela Fischer, for taking the time to be great parents and helping me become the person I am today. To my little brother Kurt, I love you, and you may now refer to me as "Doctor". And finally I want to thank my husband and best friend, Sebastien Burel. Your love and support has helped to keep me calm, clean, and fed over these last four years. You've helped me to see the best in everyone and I for that I will always be grateful. Thank you for always believing in me.

EPIGRAPH

"Twenty years from now you will be more disappointed by the things you didn't do than by the ones you did do. So throw off the bowlines. Sail away from the safe harbor. Catch the trade winds in your sails. Explore. Dream. Discover."

Mark Twain

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SIGNATURE PAGE
DEDICATIONiv
EPIGRAPHv
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF ABBREVIATONSxi
LIST OF FIGURES xiii
LIST OF TABLESxv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSxvi
VITA xviii
ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION
INTRODUCTION OF THE DISSERTATION
Cardiovascular Disease and Heart Failure2
Myocardial Infarction and Associated Effects
Cardiovascular Therapeutics and Interventions4
Genetic Modification of Stem Cells
Survival Kinases
CHAPTER I: Cardiac Progenitor Cell Commitment is Inhibited by Nuclear Akt
Expression
INTRODUCTION
METHODS
Lentiviral vectors and generation of lentivirus
Cardiac Progenitor Cell Isolation, Cell culture, and Lentiviral Infection 21

Western blots
Myocardial Infarctions, CPC Injections, Echocardiography and
Hemodynamics
Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy
SuperArray and qRT-PCRs23
Statistics
Animal studies
RESULTS
Delivery and Expression of Nuclear-Akt to Cardiac Progenitor Cells (CPCs)
using Lentiviral Vectors
Nuclear Akt increases CPC proliferation25
Nuclear Akt modified CPCs maintain c-kit expression after differentiation
Elevated levels of phospho-CREB in CPCeA
CPCeA do not provide functional and structural benefits to infarcted
myocardium
Increased number of c-kit+ cells in hearts receiving CPCeA
Attenuation of Akt expression increases cardiac lineage commitment 28
DISCUSSION
FIGURES
CHAPTER II: Enhancement of Myocardial Regeneration through Genetic
Engineering of Cardiac Progenitor Cells Expressing Pim-1 Kinase
INTRODUCTION

٢	METHODS	. 49
	Generation of Lentiviral Vectors	. 49
	Lentiviral preparation	. 49
	Cardiac Progenitor Cell Isolation, Culture, and Transductions	. 50
	Cardiac Stem Cell Medias	. 50
	Myocardial Infarction, Injections, Echocardiography, and Hemodynam	nics
		. 50
	SuperArrays	. 51
	Trypan Blue Exclusion and MTT assay	. 51
	Confocal Microscopy	. 52
	Telomere Length	. 52
	Statistics	. 52
	Animal Studies	. 52
F	RESULTS	. 53
	Pim-1 lentiviral vector expression in cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs)	. 53
	Pim-1 increases CPC proliferation	. 53
	CPCeP differentiate into cardiac, endothelial, and smooth muscle	
	lineages	. 54
	CPCeP improve cardiac function 12-weeks post myocardial infarction.	. 55
	Injection of CPCeP leads to infarct reduction, de novo myocyte	
	formation, and neovascularization	. 56
	Telomeric length preservation in myocytes derived from CPCeP	. 57

Increased number of c-kit+ cells in hearts receiving CPCeP show
enhanced proliferation
Persistent improvement in myocardial performance is afforded by CPCeP
CPCeP engraftment and commitment persists up to 32-weeks post
intramyocardial injection60
DISCUSSION
FIGURES
CHAPTER III: Pim-1 Localization Influences Cellular Survival and Proliferation 92
INTRODUCTION
METHODS
Adenoviral vectors and generation of adenovirus
Transfections
Cardiac Progenitor Cell Isolation, Cell culture, and Adenoviral Infection 95
Neonatal Rat Ventricular Cardiomyocyte Cell culture and Adenoviral
Infection
Apoptotic treatments, Annexin V/ 7AAD analysis and TUNEL Assay96
CyQuant and MTT Assay96
Confocal Microscopy97
Statistics
RESULTS
Design of Nuclear and Mitochondrial Pim-1 Constructs
Expression and Localization of Mitochondrial Pim-1 and Nuclear Pim-199

Mitochondrial Pim-1 attenuates STS induced cell death in CPCs	99
Nuclear localized Pim-1 Influences Cell Proliferation	99
DISCUSSION	100
FIGURES	104
CONCLUSION OF THE DISSERTATION	109
REFERENCES	113

LIST OF ABBREVIATONS

AIV	Akt inhibitor V
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CPC	Cardiac progenitor cell
CPCe	EGFP+ Cardiac Progenitor Cell
CPCeA	Nuclear Akt+ and EGFP+ Cardiac Progenitor Cell
CPCeP	Human Pim-1+ and EGFP+ Cardiac Progenitor
CSC	Cardiac stem cell
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
Dex	Dexamethazone
dP/dT	Change in Pressure over Change in Time
GFP-NLS	Nuclear targeted GFP
GFP-Pim1	Nuclear targeted Pim-1
ICF	Immunocytofluorescence
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
Lv+egfp	Egfp Lentivirus
Lv+egfp+Pim1	Pim-1 Lentivirus
Lv+egfp+Akt-nuc	Nuclear Targeted Akt Lentivirus
LVEDP	Left Ventricular End Diastolic Pressure

LVDP	Left Ventricular Developed Pressure
MI	Myocardial Infarction
Mito-GFP	Mitochondrial targeted GFP
Mito-Pim1	Mitochondrial targeted Pim-1
MSC	Mesenchymal Stem Cell
NRVCM	Neonatal Rat Ventricular Cardiomyocytes
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
qRT-PCR	Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
STS	Staurosporine

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I: Gene Therapeutic Approach
Figure 1.1: Stable Overexpression of Nuclear Akt in c-kit+ CPCs
Figure 1.2: Overexpression of Nuclear AKT increases CPC proliferation rate 35
Figure 1.3: Nuclear Akt modified CPCs mediate gene expression of cell cycle
proteins
Figure 1.4: Nuclear Akt modified CPCs are refractory to in-vitro differentiation
Figure 1.5: Differentiated CPCeA have increased levels of pCREB
Figure 1.6: Intramyocardial injection of CPCeA does not improve cardiac
function 12-weeks post infarction
Figure 1.7: Infarct size in CPCeA injected animals is comparable to CPCe
injected hearts
Figure 1.8: CPCeA treated hearts have increased numbers of c-kit+ cells 12-
weeks post intramyocardial injection
Figure 1.9: Phospho-CREB Attenuation in CPCeA increases lineage
commitment
Figure 2.1: Lentiviral gene expression in c-kit+ CPCs
Figure 2.2: Pim-1 increases the proliferation rate of CPCs in vitro
Figure 2.3: Pim-1 transduced CPCs mediate expression of genes involved in
proliferation
Figure 2.4: Flow cytometric analysis of CPCe and CPCeP
Figure 2.5: Phenotypic FACS characterization of CPCe and CPCeP in vitro 72

Figure 2.6: Phenotypic characterization of CPCe and CPCeP in vitro
Figure 2.7: Intramyocardial injection of CPCeP improves cardiac function 12-
weeks post infarction75
Figure 2.8: Improved cardiac function in CPCe and CPCeP treated animals 77
Figure 2.9: De novo myocyte formation and neovascularization results in
reduction of infarct size in CPCeP treated animals
Figure 2.10: Decreased fibrosis in heart of CPCeP treated animals
Figure 2.11: Preserved telomere length in CPCeP and detection of male SRY
gene
Figure 2.12: CPCeP treated hearts have increased numbers of c-kit+ cells 12-
weeks post intramyocardial injection
Figure 2.13: Increased proliferation of CPCeP in-vivo
Figure 2.14: Long-term persistent cardiac functional recovery in animals
treated with CPCeP
Figure 2.15: Persistent engraftment and differentiation of Pim-1 expressing
CPCs 32-weeks post intramyocardial injection
Figure 3.1: Nuclear and Mitochondrial Targeted Pim-1 Constructs
Figure 3.2: NRVCMs and CPCs Infected with Mitochondrial Targeted or
Nuclear Targeted Pim-1 Adenoviral Constructs
Figure 3.3: Mitochondrial Pim-1 attenuates STS induced cell death in CPCs . 107
Figure 3.4: CPCs expressing Nuclear Pim-1 abrogate cell proliferation

LIST OF TABLES

Table I: Experiments using gene therapy to treat heart failure	16
Table 2.1: Immunohistochemisty Antibody Table	89
Table 2.2: Thirty-two week echocardiography statistical analysis	90

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with deep gratitude that I would like to thank Dr. Mark Sussman for his support over these last 4 exciting years. Truly, it was an honor to be mentored by such a brilliant scientist who took the time from his incredibly busy schedule to mentor me into the scientist that I am today. He taught me to be persistent, go after what you want, and eventually you will get it.

I would like to acknowledge the Rees-Stealy Research Foundation and the ARCS Foundation, in particular the Legler Benbough Foundation, for their continued support of my research over the years. Also thank you to the Inamori Foundation for their support of my academic achievements.

I would like to thank my laboratory and all my committee members Dr. Feuer, Dr. Glembotski, Dr. Spitzer, and Dr. Traver for all their help and support. It is with their help and encouragement that made this thesis possible.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for believing in me and supporting me. It is their encouragement that helped me to begin and finish the quest for the PhD.

The introduction, in part, has been submitted for the publication of the material as it may appear in Heart Failure Clinics, 2010, Fischer, KM; Sussman, MA. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

Chapter 1, in part, has been submitted for the publication of the material as it may appear in *Stem Cells*, 2010. Fischer KM,; Wu W,; Din S,; Gude

xvi

NA,; Sussman MA. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

Chapter 2, in full is a reproduction of the material as it appears in Circulation, 2009. Enhancement of myocardial regeneration through genetic engineering of cardiac progenitor cells expressing Pim-1 kinase. Fischer KM; Cottage CT; Wu W; Din S; Gude NA; Avitabile D; Quijada P; Collins BL; Fransioli J; Sussman MA. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

VITA

EDUCATION

Doctorate of Philosophy in Biology - September 2010 University of California at San Diego and San Diego State University Joint Doctoral Program in Biology- Cell and Molecular Biology

Bachelor of Science in Microbiology - June 2001 University of California at San Diego, Revelle College

HONORS AND AWARDS

Recipient of Inamori Fellowship, Awarded- November 2009 Recipient of ARCS Scholarship, Awarded- August 2008 Recipient of the Rees-Stealy Research Foundation Fellowship, Awarded- April 2008

PUBLICATIONS

Fischer, KM., Weitao W., Din, S., Gude, N., Sussman, MA. Circ Res. *In Preparation*. Cardiac Progenitor Cell Commitment is Inhibited by Nuclear Akt Expression.

Cheng, Z., Völkers, M., Avitabile, D., Kahn, M., Gude, N., Mohsin, S., Bo, T., Truffa, S., Alvarez, R., Mason, M., **Fischer, KM**, Sussman, MA. Circ Res. *In Submission*. Mitochondrial Translocation of Nur77 Mediates Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis after Ischemia/Reperfusion.

Borillo GA, Mason M, Quijada P, Völkers M, Cottage C, McGregor M, Din S, **Fischer K**, Gude N, Avitable D, Barlow S, Gustafsson AB, Glembotski C, Gottlieb RA, Brown JH, Sussman MA. Circ Res. 2010 Mar 4. [Epub ahead of print]. Pim-1 Kinase Protects Mitochondrial Integrity in Cardiomyocytes.

Cottage CT, Bailey B, **Fischer KM**, Avitable D, Collins B, Tuck S, Quijada P, Gude N, Alvarez R, Muraski J, Sussman MA. Circ Res. 2010 Mar 19;106(5):891-901. Epub 2010 Jan 14. Cardiac progenitor cell cycling stimulated by pim-1 kinase. Bailey B, Izarra A, Alvarez R, **Fischer KM**, Cottage CT, Quijada P, Díez-Juan A, Sussman MA. Regen Med. 2009 Nov;4(6):823-33. Cardiac stem cell genetic engineering using the alphaMHC promoter.

Fischer KM, Cottage CT, Wu W, Din S, Gude NA, Avitabile D, Quijada P, Collins BL, Fransioli J, Sussman MA. Circulation. 2009 Nov 24;120(21):2077-87. Enhancement of myocardial regeneration through genetic engineering of cardiac progenitor cells expressing Pim-1 kinase.

Rubio M, Avitabile D, **Fischer K**, Emmanuel G, Gude N, Miyamoto S, Mishra S, Schaefer EM, Brown JH, Sussman MA. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2009 Jul;47(1):96-103. Cardioprotective stimuli mediate phosphoinositide 3-kinase and phosphoinositide dependent kinase 1 nuclear accumulation in cardiomyocytes.

Muraski JA*, **Fischer KM***, Wu W, Cottage CT, Quijada P, Mason M, Din S, Gude N, Alvarez R Jr, Rota M, Kajstura J, Wang Z, Schaefer E, Chen X, MacDonnel S, Magnuson N, Houser SR, Anversa P, Sussman MA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Sep 16;105(37):13889-94. Pim-1n kinase antagonizes aspects of myocardial hypertrophy and compensation to pathological pressure overload.

* co-first author.

Gude NA, Emmanuel G, Wu W, Cottage CT, **Fischer K**, Quijada P, Muraski JA, Alvarez R, Rubio M, Schaefer E, Sussman MA. Circ Res. 2008 May 9;102(9):1025-35. Activation of Notch-mediated protective signaling in the myocardium.

Muraski JA, Rota M, Misao Y, Fransioli J, Cottage C, Gude N, Esposito G, Delucchi F, Arcarese M, Alvarez R, Siddiqi S, Emmanuel GN, Wu W, **Fischer K**, Martindale JJ, Glembotski CC, Leri A, Kajstura J, Magnuson N, Berns A, Beretta RM, Houser SR, Schaefer EM, Anversa P, Sussman MA. Nat Med. 2007 Dec;13(12):1467-75. Pim-1 regulates cardiomyocyte survival downstream of Akt.

Tschan MP, **Fischer KM**, Fung VS, Pirnia F, Borner MM, Fey MF, Tobler A, Torbett BE. J Biol Chem. 2003 Oct 31;278(44):42750-60. Alternative splicing of the human cyclin D-binding Myb-like protein (hDMP1) yields a truncated protein isoform that alters macrophage differentiation patterns.

SCIENTIFIC PRESENTATIONS:

February 2010	SDSU Graduate Student Seminar Series (Talk)
April 2009	SDSU Graduate Student Seminar Series (Talk)
March 2009	ARCS Scholar Presentation (Talk)
November 2008	ARCS Scholar Recognition Event (Poster)
November 2008	American Heart Association Meeting (Talk)
September 2008	Stems of the Heart (Poster)
October 2008	SDSU Graduate Student Seminar Series (Talk)
February 2008	SDSU Research Symposium (Talk)
June 2007	SDSU Graduate Student Seminar Series (Talk)
June 2004	American Society of Hematology (Poster)

PROFESSIONAL RESEARCH EXPERIENCE:

August 2006-July 2010, Doctoral Candidate

San Diego State University; Department of Cellular and Molecular Biology

Laboratory of Dr. Mark Sussman

- Engineered Cardiac Stem Cells with Cardioprotective Kinases for Improving Myocardial Regeneration.
- Designed mitochondrial and nuclear-targeted Pim-1 constructs and investigated signaling pathways influenced by specific Pim-1 localization.
- Established lentiviral protocols and viral production for the laboratory.
- Implemented bone marrow isolation techniques and expansion for the laboratory.
- Mentored and trained graduate students conducting independent research projects.

Assisted in several aspects of lab management including supply ordering and inventory, ensuring health and safety compliance, and troubleshooting of research equipment

June 2001-August 2006, Laboratory Manager / Research Assistant II

The Scripps Research Institute; Department of Molecular and Experimental Medicine

Laboratory of Dr. Bruce Torbett

Investigated the biological actions of the transcription factor hDMP1 splice variants.

Defined the roles of the DMP1 isoforms in growth, differentiation, and cell cycle.

Implemented lentiviral vectors to down-regulate cell surface expression of the HIV co-receptor CCR5 in human CD34+ stem cells using intrabody technology.

Designed and interpreted data for several independent projects as well as provided support for various other projects in the lab.

In charge of all aspects of maintaining a laboratory including organization, ordering supplies, maintenance of equipment, and training incoming technicians and students.

June 1999-June 2001, Part time Internship

Aurora Pharmaceuticals; Department of Flow Cytometry

Supported the Flow Cytometry facility.

TECHNICAL SKILLS

- Micro-Surgical Techniques: Myocardial Infarction, Hemodynamics, Cardiac Retroperfusion.
- Animal work: Echocardiography, bone marrow extraction, IP and tail vein injection, genotyping, eye bleeding, cardiac puncture.
- Cardiac and Bone Marrow stem cell isolation.
- Stem cell isolation from umbilical cord blood and heart tissue, PBL isolation from peripheral blood. Purification of discrete populations of cells using cell surface markers.
- Cell culture of primary human CD34+ stem cells and macrophages and hematopoietic cell lines.

- Hematopoietic colony formation assay in methylcellulose or agar.
- Magnetic sorting of progenitor cells.
- Lentiviral transductions of hematopoietic and cardiac stem cells for transplantation.
- Lentiviral and HIV-1 production.
- Proliferation assays: Thymidine incorporation, CyQuant, MTT
- Flow cytometry
- PCR, RT-PCR, qRT-PCR
- DNA, RNA, Protein extraction/purification.
- Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy.
- Transductions, transfections, transformations.
- Molecular Biology Techniques: Primer design, cloning.
- Western blotting

NON-TECHNICAL SKILLS

- Lab management: laboratory setup, organization, training of technicians and students.
- Microsoft Word, Excel, Power Point, Photoshop, LabScribe
- Presentations of data both formal and non-formal.

ACADEMIC ASSOCIATIONS

Member of the American Heart Association

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Genetic Engineering of Cardiac Progenitor Cells for the Treatment of

Cardiovascular Disease and Heart Failure

by

Kimberlee Marie Fischer

Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

University of California, San Diego 2010

San Diego State University 2010

Professor Mark A. Sussman, Chair

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) afflicts an estimated one in three people in the United States, accounting for more deaths annually than all other causes of death combined. The most prevalent form of CVD is coronary artery disease (CAD). CAD often leads to myocardial infarction (MI) with subsequent death of the underlying cardiac tissue. While current pharmaceutical treatments help to alleviate the increased demands placed on the damaged heart, they do nothing to regenerate and repair damaged tissue.

Recently, the use of stem cells to regenerate cardiac tissue is being explored. Unfortunately, only modest improvements in myocardial function after stem cell transplantation have been observed, raising concerns over the retention and viability of transplanted stem cells once in the damaged heart. To this end, the field of cardiac regeneration is evolving to include genetic manipulation of stem cells using cardioprotective genes to increase survival and proliferation *in vivo*.

Herein, we evaluate the ability of cardiac progenitor cells (CPC), genetically modified with the known cardioprotective genes, nucleartargeted Akt or Pim-1, to improve cardiac structure and function after infarction in mice. The results presented in this thesis demonstrate CPCs modified with either nuclear Akt or Pim-1 significantly enhance proliferation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. However, overexpression of nuclear Akt in CPCs abrogates lineage commitment. Lack of terminal differentiation resulted in a lack of significant functional and structural improvements in the hearts of mice receiving injections after MI. In contrast, CPCs modified with Pim-1 kinase exhibited lineage commitment *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Mice receiving Pim-1 modified CPCs after infarction, therefore, had significant improvements in cardiac function and regeneration, compared to mice receiving unmodified

xxiv

CPCs. Preliminary studies indicate cellular localization of Pim-1 kinase may contribute to its ability to regulate stem cell proliferation and survival.

Taken together, this study demonstrates that CPC commitment is an essential component of the regenerative response. For cardiac stem cell therapies to be effective, cellular survival and proliferation must be promoted without inhibiting lineage commitment.

INTRODUCTION OF THE DISSERTATION

Cardiovascular Disease and Heart Failure

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the number one killer among men and women in the United States. Annually it takes more lives than all other diseases combined, including cancer, and is now becoming a worldwide epidemic. The number of people afflicted with the disease as well as the cost to society is staggering. The American Heart Association (AHA) estimates that cardiovascular disease affects one in three people and costs the public over \$400 billion dollars annually. The leading causes of heart disease stem almost entirely from obesity and associated side effects. Inactivity and lack of physical activity lead to obesity, high cholesterol, high blood pressure, and diabetes, all factors associated with increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease. In the United States it is estimated that 34% of adults age 20 and over are obese. Even more alarming is that 31% of children 2-19 years old are obese (AHA statistics update 2010). Clearly, in a society where rates of childhood obesity continue to rise, CVD is sure to be a disease lasting well into future generations.

Over the last 50 years there have been significant gains in the way we diagnose and treat CVD, including a barrage of surgical and pharmaceutical treatments that significantly improve survival after a major cardiac event. However, although we have come a long way in preventing the onset of heart failure, it remains for those that are diagnosed that more than half will die within 5 years from heart failure.

Myocardial Infarction and Associated Effects

The most common form of cardiovascular disease is referred to as coronary artery disease (CAD). Death of the myocardial tissue generally occurs through a narrowing of the arteries (arteriosclerosis) by which the main artery of the heart, the left anterior descending coronary artery, becomes blocked by plaque, and thus results in a myocardial infarction (MI). The underlying tissue and myocytes below the blockage are starved of oxygen and nutrients, become ischemic, and often death ensues. Once damaged, both the structure and function of the myocytes, as well as the entire organ are compromised. In order for the heart to maintain function, the surviving myocardium enters a period of compensatory hypertrophy. During this phase of hypertrophy, existing myocytes expand in order to compensate for the damaged and lost tissue in an effort to help the heart to pump. Pharmaceutical treatments are advantageous and are often prescribed during this phase. Pharmaceutical treatments work in a variety of ways by lowering arteriolar resistance, increasing venous capacity, and decreasing blood volume, all, which help the damaged heart to maintain function. However within just a few years, most patients transition into a state of pathological hypertrophy, characterized by increased apoptosis, or cell death, of the surviving myocyte population and thinning of the myocardial wall. At this point, heart function is severely compromised and can no longer keep up with the demands it must meet in order to sustain life. Heart

transplant presents the only remaining viable treatment option for these patients, many of whom die waiting for donor organs.

Cardiovascular Therapeutics and Interventions

Fortunately, over the last 10 years, a revolution in the way we currently treat heart disease has been sweeping through the field of cardiovascular medicine. Spurred on by the regenerative capacity of stem cells, scientists have been trying to regenerate damaged cardiac tissue using stem cells from a variety of both adult and embryonic tissue sources. Various innovative strategies using stem cells have been proposed including intramyocardial injection, heart grafts composed of stem cells, as well as attempts to regenerate the entire organ using stem cells, and offer hope for the discovery of a novel therapy to treat heart disease. This last experiment has recently been reported in the news as scientists at the University of Minnesota have been able to rebuild both a rat and pig heart using a process known as "whole organ decellularization". This technique involves removing the cells from the heart but leaving the extracellular matrix intact, upon which new stem cells are placed. All of these pioneering experiments are leading scientists and clinicians into a new frontier of cardiovascular medicine.

In the last 5 years several human clinical trials have investigated the regenerative potential of a variety of stem cells from various tissues, resulting in somewhat varied outcomes (1). Accounting for some of this discrepancy may be that the current studies have not been directly compared in regards to cell number, cell type, time of transplantation, or the ability of transplanted cells to

differentiate into cardiogenic lineages. This last point remains one of the chief areas of intense research focus for all stem cells (2-4). It is critical for improving heart function that transplanted stem cells be able to functionally integrate into the surviving myocardium, differentiate, and replace the various cardiac lineages lost during pathological stress. Although a plethora of cell types have been shown to mitigate cardiac damage to some extent, the cell type best suited to repair the heart remains elusive.

The most studied stem cells used for repair currently are from the bone marrow (5, 6), mesenchyme (7-14), and cardiac tissue (15-18). Until recently, bone marrow stem cells have been the cell type of choice given the ease of collection and well-characterized isolation. Of late, however, cardiac stem cells have begun to offer new hope as a novel cell population for cardiac regeneration (15-21). Although the heart has long been considered a postmitotic organ, a subset of resident cycling c-kit+ progenitor cells (CPCs) have been recently identified and found to reside within particular "niches" of the heart (3, 22, 23). C-kit+ CPCs play a role in the normal maintenance and repair of the heart, and have been shown to mobilize to damaged cardiac tissue in response to myocardial injury (3, 21, 24-26). Currently, c-kit+ CPCs have been isolated and used with moderate success to treat and regenerate damaged heart tissue after myocardial infarction (1, 4, 20, 24) Importantly, CPCs are hypothesized to possess an increased ability to differentiate into cardiac cell types as they initially express markers of early cardiac lineages such as NKX2.5, Gata4, and MEF2C (25).

The excitement of these initial reparative studies has been tempered by the somewhat marginal regenerative capacity of adoptively transferred stem cell populations. Experimental data routinely suggest that the vast majority of transferred stem cells die or vanish shortly after delivery. Therefore, it is likely that modest benefits gained in myocardial structure and function are mediated by a small population of surviving cells. Thus it seems that despite the cell type, the ability of adoptively transferred stem cells to effectively repair the myocardium in the face of catastrophic damage falls short. Although initial experiments are optimistic, dramatic improvements necessary for long term cardiac tissue regeneration and improved function essential for clinical implementation remain as an unmet goal. Given these substantial drawbacks, it is clear that stem cell therapies must be optimized for successful execution in the myocardium.

One such hypothesis for improving stem cell therapy for the heart focuses on improving the homing, survival, and proliferation of stem cells in the ischemic and/or damaged myocardium. Ideally, to enhance the regenerative process, adoptively transferred stem cells may benefit from genetic modification to promote cellular proliferation and survival without inhibiting lineage commitment and differentiation. Experimental designs where stem cells are harvested and manipulated ex vivo are currently underway (27-29).

Genetic Modification of Stem Cells

Modification of stem cells is in its infancy and a variety of methods to increase the *in vivo* efficacy of these cells in the heart are currently being investigated. Consensus on the most effective and safe way to manipulate stem cells is, however, a subject of intense debate. Strategies ranging from treatment of stem cells with cytokines or paracrine factors to permanent genetic modification of the cells are being explored; each with its own set of pros and cons.

Injection of cytokines into the infarcted myocardium induces the homing of the endogenous stem cells to sites of injury. In particular, endogenous cardiac stem cells have been shown to respond to injection of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (30-39) and mediate protective effects. While these endogenous stem cells are amenable to cytokine manipulation, there are not enough cells available to effectively repair the damaged myocardium. *Ex-vivo* treatment of a greater number of stem cells with cytokines to enhance their proliferation and survival prior to injection has, therefore, been proposed as an alternative. As continued local stimulation of these cells with cytokines once delivered to the myocardium would prove to be difficult, it remains to be seen if cytokine stimulated stem cells can perpetuate the preliminary activation of protective signaling initially induced, beyond a few days. Given these potential problems, a more long-term solution has been proposed. Genetic modification would allow permanent integration of cardioprotective genes into stem cells, inducing proliferative

and survival signaling that provides for long term cardiac functional improvement (Figure I) (27).

In order to deliver genes to cells on a more long-term basis, vectors to deliver these genes are being designed. The most recent strategies involve the use of viral vectors, as viruses are uniquely suited to deliver their genes to cells within the mammalian host. Several different viral vectors have been employed and depending on the virus, genes can be delivered transiently or permanently. To date adenoviral vectors have been used successfully to deliver cardioprotective genes to the heart, however adenoviral delivered genes do not integrate into the host genome and, therefore, are not expressed permanently and are not passed on to cell progeny. To circumvent this problem, retroviruses, and in particular lentiviruses, have been utilized to deliver genes that stably integrate into the host genome. Benefits regarding the use of lentiviral vectors include the ability to infect both dividing and nondividing cells and permanent integration of the gene of interest into the host genome. Permanent integration allows for the gene to be stably passed on and expressed through all future generations of daughter cells. Additional benefits also include the ability to pseudo-type lentiviruses allowing a wide range of tissue tropisms to be amenable to lentiviral gene delivery.

Delivery of cardioprotective genes to treat heart failure ultimately relies on the modification of signaling pathways in stem cells that regulate proliferation and inhibit apoptosis, without inhibiting lineage commitment, thereby enhancing survival and engraftment of these cells *in vivo*. Furthermore, rapid ex-vivo expansion of stem cells has critical clinical implications. By increasing the rate at which the stem cells proliferate, the pool of available cells to be used for transplantation can be amplified, ultimately leading to decreased expansion time necessary to obtain adequate numbers of cells to treat patients. Modification of signaling pathways, which promote cardiac regeneration, may therefore be the key to enhancing stem cell regeneration in the heart.

Some of the first studies to prompt investigation into the modification of signaling pathways for adoptive cellular therapy arose from the discovery of an endogenous population of self-renewing CSCs that were found to be lineage negative and c-kit positive (lin⁻, kit⁺) (23, 40). These cells have since been shown not only to provide normal maintenance and repair for the heart, but also proliferate and migrate to damaged myocardium in response to pathological injury (15-18, 24, 25). Additionally, it has been shown as CSCs age they become increasingly senescent and their capacity to mitigate damage becomes impaired. Experimental studies demonstrated that this age-associated deterioration could be attenuated through administration of IGF (41). Specifically, IGF transgenic mice displayed a delayed aging phenotype in which progenitor cells and myocytes had decreased amounts of senescence associated markers and maintained proliferation. These results implicated the involvement of the cardioprotective serine threonine kinase Akt, which is activated downstream of IGF. These results further suggest that

potentiating the ability of stem cells to proliferate in either the damaged or aged myocardium could drastically improve their abilities to repair the heart.

Survival Kinases

Within the context of the heart, Akt kinase has become one of the most studied cardioprotective molecules. Molecular interactions between Akt and downstream targets have become increasingly important as the field begins to examine the signalling responsible for the beneficial effects observed in the heart.

Akt is a nodal kinase responsible for a number of proliferative and antiapoptotic effects within a variety of cell types. Akt/PKB is a serine/threonine protein kinase, central to the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. Akt activation has been shown to play roles in the regulation of cell proliferation, cell survival, and inhibition of apoptosis. Downstream targets include members of the p53 pathway such as MDM2, as well as cell cycle targets such as mTOR and GSK-3, to name a few. In the heart, Akt plays a major role in both physiological and pathological hypertrophy. During stress, Akt is activated through receptor tyrosine kinases and PI3K, by which Akt can exert potent anti-apoptotic and survival signals through inhibition of Bad, caspase 9, GSK3, and activation of mTOR (42-44). Although prolonged activation of Akt in transgenic mice leads to cardiac hypertrophy and onset of heart failure, more recent studies have shown that the protective roles exerted by Akt in the heart are mediated through its nuclear localization (43, 45-50). Transgenic mice with cardiacspecific overexpression of nuclear-targeted Akt have hypercellular hearts,
enhanced myocyte contractility, and increased calcium reuptake (43). Additionally, nuclear Akt promotes the cycling of cardiomyocytes and expansion of the progenitor cell pool in transgenic mice (43).

Given the multitude of protective affects afforded by Akt in the heart, several studies have addressed the potential of potentiating this signaling cascade in the myocardium to improve structure and function after pathological injury (51-60). To date, paracrine factors induced by Akt, as well as genetic modification of stem cells, have been used to attenuate myocardial damage after infarction or ischemic damage. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells modified to overexpress Akt minimize ventricular remodeling and restore cardiac function within 72 hours post implantation (55). Continued studies by the same group went on to identify key paracrine factors (VEGF, FGF-2, HGF, IGF-I, and TB4) induced by Akt that are believed to be responsible for mitigation of cardiac damage, arguing that improved cardiac performance in such a short time frame seems unlikely to be achieved through engraftment and transdifferentiation of injected stem cell populations (57). While there is no doubt that activation of the Akt induces cytokines that are critical for both early survival of the injected stem cell population and cardiac improvement, rare studies exist to show that these beneficial effects maintain cardiac improvement beyond a short time. To this end, several laboratories have shown longer term success in both the structure and function of the heart after delivery of stem cells genetically modified with Akt (49, 58, 61). These results demonstrate that genetically enhanced stem

cells have the potential to repair the damaged myocardium. Other laboratories have also demonstrated beneficial effects from genetically modified stem cells with alternative cardioprotective genes, many of which are downstream targets of Akt (62, 63).

Recent data demonstrate that some of the protective effects previously ascribed to Akt in the heart may be, in part, due to the action of Pim-1, a downstream target of Akt (64, 65). Although previously identified in the hematopoietic system, Pim-1 kinase was recently identified as a novel downstream target of Akt in the heart. Given that Pim-1 has been found to play a key role in multiple cellular environments, ranging from cancer to inflammation to heart disease, an understanding of the mechanisms governing Pim-1 regulated proliferation and cellular survival will have a broad impact on a variety of diseases, leading to a better understanding of the effects that manifest by manipulating Pim-1 expression.

Pim-1, a conserved serine/threonine protein kinase, originally described as the proviral integration site of the Moloney murine leukemia virus (66), is well known in the hematopoietic system. Like Akt, downstream targets phosphorylated by Pim-1 include proteins involved in cell cycle, proliferation, and survival (66-69). Through both phosphorylation and direct association, Pim-1 can stabilize pro-proliferative proteins and/or influence their subcellular localization, contributing to regulation of proliferation (69-73). Pim-1 phosphorylation of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors, p27 and p21, induces their nuclear export and subsequent degradation(72, 73), while Pim-1mediated phosphorylation stabilizes and inhibits the degradation of c-myc (69). In addition to promotion of proliferation, recent studies have delineated the protective role Pim-1 plays in cardiomyopathic injury. Transgenic mice overexpressing Pim-1 in the heart were shown to be resistant to myocardial damage and hypertrophy (64, 65). Additionally, Pim-1 transgenic mice subjected to trans-aortic constriction (TAC) banding, demonstrated increased levels of both anti-hypertrophic proteins and anti-apoptotic proteins. Furthermore, hearts from Pim-1 mice exhibited a hyperplasic phenotype and were refractory to hypertrophy. Conversely, hearts from Pim-1 dominant negative mice readily transition into hypertrophy resulting in dilated cardiomyopathy after TAC banding.

Consistent with the pro-proliferative function in the hematopoietic system, recent studies have identified a similar role for Pim-1 in c-kit-positive CPCs. CPCs from Pim-1 transgenic mice showed elevated levels of the nucleolar protein, nucleostemin, the expression of which is associated with increased proliferation in stem cells (74). Like Akt, protective effects of Pim-1 governing cellular proliferation and survival may be dependent upon localization. Pim-1 expression has been shown to be elevated in the nuclei of proliferating neonatal hearts while expression diminishes and localizes to the cytosol upon aging (65). Although the expression of Pim-1 has been linked to both survival and proliferation, the exact mechanisms of this interaction are currently under investigation.

Currently, it appears that unmodified stem and progenitor cells offer an acute ameliorative response after pathological injury; however, their ability to effectively repair and maintain the function of the heart appears to be short-lived. Preliminary data in support of genetic modification of stem cells with cardioprotective genes is beginning to gain ground as studies begin to demonstrate genetically modified stem cells provide early enhanced improvements in myocardial structure and function over unmodified stem cells (Table I). However, many unanswered questions remain in regards to the long-term efficacy of genetically modified stem cell populations.

For real-world clinical implementation, stem cell therapies must mediate long-term functional improvement, and while early benefits likely involve paracrine factors, true sustained functional and structural benefits are unlikely to be gained without the engraftment of stem cells and their integration and differentiation into the surviving myocardium. The data presented herein addresses these concerns, and investigates the long-term protective effects offered by cardioprotective kinases, nuclear Akt and Pim-1.



Figure I: Gene Therapeutic Approach

Cardioprotective genes using viral vectors are delivered to stem cells affording the stem cell population with and increased ability to survive and proliferate *in vitro*. After expansion, genetically modified stem cells are injected into the damaged myocardium where they elicit a multitude of protective effects: Differentiation into cardiogenic lineages such as (**A**) vasculature and (**B**) myocytes, (**C**) recruitment of endogenous stem cells to help repair the heart, (**D**) induced proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis for the injected population, and (**E**) secretion of paracrine factors to enhance the survival of the surrounding myocardium. Table I: Experiments using gene therapy to treat heart failure

NAME	Type of cell	Vector/ Delivery	Protein	# of cells	Time assessed	Cardiac Benefits	Cardiac function vs control
Duan, et al. (2003)	MSC	Adenovirus	HGF	unknown	2 weeks	decreased collagen	improved
				~		decreased risk area	
						increased capillary density	
Mangi, et al. (2003)	MSC	Retrovirus	Akt	5.00E+06	3 weeks	decreased inflammation	normalized systolic
						decreased collagen	and diastolic function
						decreased hypertrophy	
						cardiac like: expressed	
				×		MHC, Ctnl, alpha-SA and MLC	
Wang, et al. (2004)	n/a	Tail Vein Injection	HGF	n/a	7 days	increased capillary density	improved LV systolic
1.000 MIN 100						decreased apoptosis and fibrosis	and diastolic function
						decreased infarct size	
Gnecchi, et al. (2005)	MSC	conditioned media	Akt	n/a	72 hours	decreased apoptosis	not reported
						decreased infarct size	
Iwasaki, et al. (2005)	n/a	microbubbles	HGF	n/a	2 weeks	decreased dilation	improved contractile
				× .	~		function
Davis, et al. (2006)	n/a	Nanofibers and	IGF	n/a	28 days	decreased caspase 3 activation	improved systolic
		cardiomyocytes		1. 1.		increased Troponin I	function
Jiang, et al. (2006)	MSC	Adenovirus	Akt and Ang-1	3.00E+06	14 days	myogenic differentiation	increased ejection fraction
						increased vessel density	increased fractional shortening
						enhanced cell survival	2010 2011
Li, et al. (2006)	n/a	Adenovirus	iNOS	n/a	2 months	decreased infarct size	no adverse effects
Noiseuz, et al. (2006)	MSC	Retrovirus	Akt	5.00E+05	28 days	decreased infarct size	increased ejection fraction
Xie, et al. (2007)	ES cells	Lentivirus	VEGF	5.00E+05	21 days	increased cell survival	increased ejection fraction
						increased vessel density	
Yang, et al. (2007)	e/u	Adenovirus intracoronary	HGF	n/a	3 weeks	increased angiogenesis	increased ejection fraction
		injection				decreased apoptosis	
		0				decreased fibrosis	
						recruitment of stem cells	
Guo, et al. (2008)	MSC	adenovirus	HGF	5.00E+06	8 weeks	increased angiogenesis	increasd systolic and
						decreased apoptosis	diastolic function
Haider, et al. (2008)	MSC	adenovirus	IGF	1.50E+06	1 week	decreased infarct size	increased ejection fraction
3 4		· · · · ·		, ,		increased angiogenesis	increased fractional shortening
						increased stem cell mobilization	
Shujia, et al. (2008)	MSC	adenovirus	Akt and Ang-1	3.00E+06	3 months	myogenic differentiation	increased ejection fraction
						increased vessel density	increased fractional shortening
						enhanced cell survival	100 m
Zhu, et al. (2009)	Adipose derived	lentivirus	HGF	1.00E+08	28 days	increased blood flow	increased cardiac function
	stem cells					differentiation into endothelial cells	
						decreased fibrosis	
Fischer, et al. (2009)	Cardiac stem cells	lentivirus	Pim-1	1.00E+05	8 months	increased cell survival	increased ejection fraction
						decreased fibrosis	increased fractional shortening
						increased engraftment and	improved hemodynamics
						differentiation	

CHAPTER I:

Cardiac Progenitor Cell Commitment is Inhibited by Nuclear Akt Expression

INTRODUCTION

Akt/PKB is a pivotal regulatory kinase with various effects on growth, metabolism, and survival. In the heart, Akt has become one of the most studied cardioprotective with various kinases roles in preventing cardiomyopathic injury (43, 45, 46, 49, 58, 60, 65). Activation of Akt is initiated by growth factor dependent stimulation of receptor tyrosine kinases, which in turn stimulate a cascade of signaling events beginning with the activation of PI3 kinase (PI3K) at the plasma membrane. Subsequent activation of PDK1/2 phosphorylates and activates Akt. Downstream targets of Akt are numerous and include both pro-proliferative and anti-apoptotic substrates (43, 44, 65, 74,75).

In order to investigate the mechanisms governing the cardioprotective effects of Akt, a variety of systems including cardiac specific overexpression and viral infections have been employed. Numerous studies attribute shortterm Akt activation to the profound protective effects seen in post ischemic injury models, whereby Akt drastically increases cell cycle and inhibits apoptosis in cardiomyocytes (52, 55, 56, 58-61, 76-79). Additionally, Akt activation stimulates neoangiogenesis and vasculogenesis (58, 80-90) in part accounting for the dramatic improvements seen in pathologically challenged Akt transgenic mice. However, constitutive activation of Akt can have detrimental effects upon the myocardium, including hypertrophic growth and abnormal vascular remodeling (76, 85, 91, 92). Thus, the protective roles provided by Akt have been demonstrated to be governed by its nuclear localization (16, 43, 45, 46, 93, 94). Previous studies by our group demonstrate that cardiac-specific overexpression of nuclear Akt allows for expansion of the progenitor cell pool, as well as enhanced protection of the myocardium against pathological injury without induction of hypertrophic remodeling (43).

Recently, stem cell therapies are being explored as a novel way to treat heart failure (4, 21, 23, 24, 26). Unfortunately to date, only modest improvements in cardiac structure and function have been observed, due to poor stem cell proliferation and viability after delivery. To improve the benefits of stem cell therapy, mechanisms promoting proliferation and survival of the stem cell population without inhibiting lineage commitment have become an area of intense research focus (43, 56-61, 64, 79).

The current study evaluates the ability of cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs) modified to overexpress nuclear-targeted Akt (CPCeA) to mediate cardioprotection in infarcted hearts. Results presented herein demonstrate that CPCeA are highly proliferative, resulting in a rapid expansion of the progenitor cell pool *in vitro and in vivo*. However, CPCeA are resistant to differentiation, compared to CPC controls. Further data provided in this study demonstrate a potentially novel mechanism governing CPC differentiation downstream of nuclear Akt, while highlighting the importance of understanding effects survival signaling has on progenitor cell lineage commitment.

METHODS

Lentiviral vectors and generation of lentivirus

Bicistronic lentiviral vectors were generated as previously described (95), however briefly, murine AKT cDNA was isolated and fused to 3X nuclear localization sequence as well as a myc tag. The control construct CPCe, expresses eGFP off an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES), while the nuclear targeted AKT construct termed CPCeA, expresses nuclear targeted AKT from a <u>myeloproliferative sarcoma virus LTR-n</u>egative control region <u>d</u>eleted (MND) promoter as well as eGFP off an IRES. Lentivirus was generated as previously described (95).

Cardiac Progenitor Cell Isolation, Cell culture, and Lentiviral Infection

CPCs were isolated from 10-12 week old male FVB mice and cultured in cardiac stem cell (CSC) media: DMEM F-12, 10% FBS, 1% PSG, 1X ITS (Lonza, 17-838Z), .4mg/ml EGF (Sigma, E9644), .02ng/ml bFGF (Peprotech, 100-18B), and 1000U/ml LIF (Chemicon #ESG1107). CPCs were plated in 96-well flat bottom plates and transduced with lentivirus (eGFP or nuclear AKT) at an MOI of 10 overnight. CPCs were washed 18 hours later and fresh CSC media was added. Cells were expanded and analyzed by flow cytometry to determine the percentage of eGFP+ cells. Cells were incubated with Akt inhibitor V (10μM) for 7 days with and without dexamethazone (Dex) where indicated.

Trypan blue and CyQuant Assays

Uninfected, CPCe, and CPCeP, were plated in quadruplicate (10,000 cells/well) in 24 well plates. Viable cells were determined by trypan blue exclusion. For MTT assays, 5000 cells/well were plated in 96-well plates, incubated 4-5 hours with 50mg of MTT reagent (Fluka), treated with 100ml stopping reagent (.01N HCl + 10% SDS) overnight at 37°C, and analyzed on a spectrophotometer at 570nm. For CyQuant (Invitrogen) assays, CPCe and CPCeA were plated in quadruplicate in 96-well flat bottom plates at 4000 cells per well. CyQuant reagent was added to the media at day 1 and day 3, as per manufactures protocol. CyQuant reagent was incubated for 45 minutes and read on a spectrophotometer at 530nm. AKT inhibitor V was added to the wells where indicated and used at 10uM.

Western blots

CPCe and CPCeA were plated in 6-well dishes at 50,000 cells per well. Cells were harvested the next day in sample buffer, boiled, and sonicated before running on 4-12% Bis-Tris gels. Primary antibodies were used at appropriate concentrations and incubated overnight at 4°C in 7% milk. Secondary antibodies were used at 1:4000 dilutions and incubated at room temperature for two hours. Membranes were washed in TBST and scanned on a Typhoon. Myocardial Infarctions, CPC Injections, Echocardiography and Hemodynamics

Infarctions and injections were performed as previously described (95), briefly 10-12 week old female FVB mice were anesthetized under isoflurane, intubated, and ventilated. A thoracotomy was performed and the LAD ligated. At five minutes post ligation a blinded surgeon delivered vehicle, CPCe, or CPCeA at 5 sites surrounding the border zone with a total of 100,000 cells per heart. Infarction size was standardized by echocardiography performed on animals imaged along a parasternal short-axis view by M-mode recorded at 3 days post-infarction and injection. Lack of anterior wall motion in conjunction with at least 40% decrease in EF and FS were required for study inclusion.

Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy

Heart sections were deparaffinized and antigen retrieved in 1mM Citrate (pH 6.0), followed by one-hour block in TNB. Antibody stains were performed as previously described; however briefly, primary antibody was incubated overnight at 4 degrees followed by secondary antibody incubation for 2 hours at room temperature. Tyramide amplification was performed as necessary.

SuperArray and qRT-PCRs

To obtain mRNA and cDNA from CPCe and CPCeA Triazol (Invitrogen) was used as per manufacturers protocol. Cell proliferation (PAMM-020) array was obtained from SuperArray and ran per manufacturer's protocol. For qRT-PCR, RNA was harvested as per manufacturer's protocol using the RNA isolation kit from Zymo Research. cDNA was obtained using iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad, #170-8891) and qRT-PCR run using the iQ SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, #170-8882). Troponin T forward primer sequence: ACCCTCAGGCTCAGGTTCA; Troponin T reverse primer sequence: GTGTGCAGTCCCTGTTCAGA; 18S forward primer sequence: CCCCCTCGATGCTCTTAGCT; 18S reverse primer sequence: GGGCCTGCTTTGAACACTCTA.

Statistics

Statistics were calculated using Prism software. One-way ANOVA and twoway repeated measures ANOVA for echocardiography with Tukey's post-hoc test were calculated. Values with p<.05 were considered statistically significant. Generalized estimating equations with empirical (robust) covariance estimation were used to confirm two-way ANOVA results. Where appropriate Student's T test was utilized.

Animal studies

All animal studies were approved by IACUC.

RESULTS

Delivery and Expression of Nuclear-Akt to Cardiac Progenitor Cells (CPCs) using Lentiviral Vectors

cDNA from murine Akt was fused to a 3X nuclear localization sequence (NLS) and a myc-tag in order to target Akt to the nuclear compartment of the cell. Bicistronic lentiviral vectors were designed to express enhanced green fluorescent protein alone (Lv-egfp) or in combination with nuclear Akt kinase (Lv-egfp+Akt-nuc) in order to stably deliver cDNA constructs into c-kit+ CPCs isolated from male nontransgenic (NTG) FVB mice (Figure 1.1A). CPC populations modified with Lv-egfp (CPCe) or with Lv-egfp+Akt-nuc (CPCeA) were subjected to immunoblot analysis to confirm stable integration of the gene and overexpression of the target protein. CPCeA demonstrate overexpression of Akt and myc-tag protein, while both CPCeA and CPCe express eGFP protein (Figure 1.1B). GAPDH is shown as a loading control.

Nuclear Akt increases CPC proliferation

CPCeA have a significantly increased proliferation rate (p<.01) over a four day time course as determined by Trypan blue exclusion measuring total number of viable cells (Figure 1.2A). Additionally, CPCeA have an increased proliferation rate at day three (p<.05) as determined by CyQuant assay (Figure 1.2B, dark colored bars). The effect was abrogated by day three with addition of Akt kinase inhibitor V (Figure 1.2B, light colored bars). A cell cycle array demonstrated CPCeA regulate gene expression of several cell cycle genes (Figure 1.3A). Additionally, CPCeA down-regulate protein expression of Cyclin D1 (Figure 1.3B), and significantly increase protein expression of Chk1 and CDC2 (Figure 1.3C).

Nuclear Akt modified CPCs maintain c-kit expression after differentiation

CPCeA were treated with and without dexamethazone (Dex) for seven days and evaluated for c-kit protein expression by immunocytochemistry. After seven days of Dex treatment, CPCeA remained c-kit positive, in contrast to unmodified CPCe cells whereby c-kit expression was lost (Figure 1.4).

Elevated levels of phospho-CREB in CPCeA

Activated Akt has been shown to induce the phosphorylation and activation of the transcription factor CREB. Elevated levels of phospho-CREB have been previously demonstrated to promote proliferation in progenitor cell populations. CPCeA were immunoblotted to assess the phosphorylation status of CREB before and after Dex treatment (Figure 1.4) to determine if a similar mechanism was involved in the CPCeA population. Undifferentiated CPCeA had a statistically significant (p=.007) 3.3-fold increase in the level of phospho-CREB over total CREB (Figure 1.5) compared to CPCe. Interestingly, upon differentiation, CPCeA had a 19-fold significant increase in the level of phospho-CREB over total CREB when compared to CPCe controls (Figure 1.5). CPCe had no statistical change in phospho-CREB over total CREB levels before and after JERE (Figure 1.5).

CPCeA do not provide functional and structural benefits to infarcted myocardium

To assess whether protective benefits are gained from intramyocardial injection of CPCeA, twelve-week old female mice were injected with CPCeA or CPCe after infarction and cardiac function assessed by echocardiography and *in vivo* hemodynamics. Hearts of animals receiving CPCeA did not show a statistically significant advantage over CPCe injected hearts in anterior wall dimension (AWD, Figure 1.6A), fractional shortening (FS, Figure 1.6B), or ejection fraction (EF, Figure 1.6C), at twelve weeks. Hemodynamic assessment further confirmed deterioration of cardiac function in CPCeA injected animals as assessed by left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP, Figure 1.6D), left ventricular end diastolic pressure (LVEDP, Figure 1.6E), and dp/dt maximum and minimum (Figure 1.6F). In fact, as early as four weeks post-injection, cardiac function in CPCeA injected animals. CPCe injected hearts show a statistically significant (p<.05) advantage at early time points, but beneficial effects were not sustained past 4 weeks.

Infarct size was determined in hearts of animals receiving CPCeA and CPCe at twelve weeks post-infarction and injection. Injection of CPCeA did not result in a statistically significant reduction in infarct size compared to CPCe and saline injected controls (Figure 1.7).

Increased number of c-kit+ cells in hearts receiving CPCeA

The number of c-kit+ cells within the infarct was quantified by immunohistochemistry. CPCeA injected animals had a significant (p<.01) 2.3-fold increase in the number of total c-kit+ cells compared to CPCe injected controls (Figure 1.8A). Additionally, CPCeA injected hearts had a significant (p<.005) 2.7-fold increase in c-kit+ eGFP+ cells (Figure 1.8B) and a 1.8-fold increase in c-kit+ eGFP- cells (p<.05) (Figure 1.8C) compared to CPCe injected controls. There was no statistical difference (p>.05) in the number of c-kit+ eGFP- cells between CPCe and saline injected hearts. Although a significant number of adoptively transferred c-kit+ progenitor cells were identified in animals that received CPCeA, there was a noticeable lack of GFP+ myocytes (data not shown).

Attenuation of Akt expression increases cardiac lineage commitment

CPCe and CPCeA were treated *in vitro*, with and without Akt inhibitor V (AIV, Akt activity inhibitor) and subjected to Dex-induced differentiation. CPCeA treated with AIV and Dex had a statistically significant (p<.002) 2.7fold reduction in phospho-CREB protein expression (Figure 1.9A) compared to Dex treated CPCeA without AIV treatment. CPCeA and CPCe treated with AIV and Dex were also harvested for RNA and transcript levels of Troponin T (TnT), a marker consistent with cardiac lineage commitment, were analyzed by quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR). Before Dex stimulated differentiation, CPCe and CPCeA do not express TnT (Figure 1.9B). Upon induction of differentiation, CPCeA express significantly (p<.008) reduced levels of TnT transcript compared to CPCe controls (Figure 1.9B). In order to determine if overexpression of Akt in CPCeA or CPCe abrogates cardiac lineage commitment CPCeA and CPCe were treated with AIV prior to Dex treatment. CPCeA treated with AIV and Dex had a significant reduction in phospho-CREB protein levels (Figure 1.9A) as well as a statistically significant (p<.008) increase in TnT transcript (Figure 1.9C), compared to CPCeA treated with Dex alone. Although the difference was not as dramatic as in CPCeA, CPCe also had significant increases in TnT transcript after treatment with AIV and Dex, compared to CPCe treated with Dex alone (Figure 1.9C). These results are consistent with previous studies demonstrating high levels of Akt expression promote rapid proliferation of progenitor cells which must be attenuated in order to progress through lineage commitment (96).

DISCUSSION

For years treatment of the damaged myocardium has suffered from limitation, the inability to regenerate cardiac one major tissue. Pharmaceutical treatments have prolonged the life of many patients, but ultimately continue to fail as a permanent "fix" for the treatment of heart failure. Recently, with the explosion of stem cell research and tissue regeneration, a long-term solution for the repair of damaged myocardium appears to be just around the corner. Ongoing clinical trials whereby stem cells are delivered to the damaged myocardium are in effect, however results offer only modest short-term improvements in cardiac function. Consistently, studies demonstrate a minority of adoptively transferred stem cells survive in the damaged myocardium, accounting, at least in part, for the lack of substantial improvements in cardiac structure and function. These observations have led to the hypothesis that increasing the ability of adoptively transferred stem cells to survive and proliferate may considerably improve the efficacy of stem cell regeneration in the heart.

Genetic modification of the stem cell population with survival kinases has now been shown to improve the ability of progenitor cells to mitigate cardiac damage and improve regeneration (19, 56-58, 61, 63, 95). One such cardioprotective kinase is Akt. While constitutive activation of Akt leads to hypertrophic growth and abnormal vascular remodeling (76, 85, 91, 92), a plethora of studies have shown short term Akt activation as well as nuclear localized Akt imparts protective benefits on the pathologically challenged heart including growth, inhibition of cell death, and increased angiogenesis (16, 43, 45, 46, 93, 94). However, it is important consider that successful modification of stem cells relies on the ability to increase proliferation and survival without inhibiting lineage commitment upon appropriate environmental stimulation. The vast majority of experiments involving Akt overexpression in stem cells do not assess for the amount or for the duration of this stimulation within the progenitor cell pool. While protective benefits have been gained through Akt activation, studies demonstrate sustained overexpression can inhibit lineage commitment and terminal differentiation in various progenitor cell populations. The current study evaluated the effect of long-term overexpression of nuclear Akt upon CPCs. Our results demonstrated CPCeA were highly proliferative both in vitro (Figure 1.2 and 1.3) and in vivo (Figure 1.6). However, after Dex treatment in vitro, CPCeA had significantly reduced levels of TnT transcript (Figure 1.9B), compared to CPCe controls, indicating a resistance to lineage commitment (Figure 1.4). Therefore, although significantly more CPCeA were retained after adoptive transfer into infarcted hearts compared to CPCe controls (Figure 1.8), overexpression of nuclear Akt antagonized cardiac lineage commitment and did not lead to improved function (Figure 1.6) or structure (Figure 1.7) of the heart after pathological challenge.

The cyclic AMP response element binding protein (CREB) is a transcription factor and known downstream target of Akt. In the heart, Akt

phosphorylates and activates CREB on serine 133 (97). It has been demonstrated phosphorylation of CREB induces proliferation and elevated levels of phospho-CREB are found in several forms of cancer (98). Consistent with these observations previous studies have shown chondrocyte progenitor cells overexpressing Akt and phospho-CREB were highly proliferative but also refractory to differentiation. Terminal differentiation of chondrocyte progenitor cells was only observed in this study after inhibition of Akt activity(96). In accordance with previous observations, our studies revealed undifferentiated CPCeA have significantly increased levels of phospho-CREB compared to control CPCe (Figure 1.5). Given that CREB is localized to the nucleus, it is likely a target of our nuclear-targeted Akt. Interestingly, upon in vitro differentiation with Dex, CPCeA have a 19-fold significant increase in the level of phospho-CREB compared to CPCe (Figure 1.5). In an effort to elucidate the mechanism inhibiting differentiation, CPCeA were treated with an Akt inhibitor prior to Dex treatment. Our results demonstrate inhibition of Akt activity in CPCeA reduced phospho-CREB levels 2.7-fold (Figure 1.9A) and resulted in increased expression of TnT transcript, a marker consistent with cardiogenic differentiation (Figure 1.9B, C). Taken together, our results suggest a previously unknown mechanism underlying CPC differentiation whereby levels of phosphorylated CREB may be critical to controlling CPC differentiation. Further studies using a specific CREB inhibitor are currently underway to determine whether inhibiting activation of CREB targets may elucidate the role activated CREB plays during differentiation of cardiac progenitor cells. Concurrently, studies are being pursued in order to regulate the expression of nuclear Akt using an inducible system. Rapid expansion of the progenitor cell pool as well as increased survival within the damaged myocardium is critical for clinical implementation; however regulation of gene expression may provide a way to control and induce progenitor cell differentiation after delivery.

Genetic modification of stem cell populations with cardioprotective genes has now been demonstrated in numerous studies to decrease damage to the heart caused by pathological injury. However, successful long-term regeneration and improvement relies not only on short-term paracrine effects to enhance survival signaling but also requires long-term engraftment and differentiation of the progenitor cells into the major myocardial cell lineages. Thus, a thorough understanding of the mechanisms governing progenitor cell differentiation is of paramount importance both in and out of the clinic.

Chapter 1, in part, is a reproduction of the material as it may appear in Stem Cells, 2010. Fischer KM, Wu W, Din S, Gude NA, Sussman MA. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.





Figure 1.1: Stable Overexpression of Nuclear Akt in c-kit+ CPCs

(A) Self-inactivating lentiviral vectors, termed Lv-egfp (GFP control) and Lv-egfp+Akt-nuc.
(B) Representative immunoblot of CPCe and CPCeA, immunolabeled for myc-tag, Akt1/2, GFP, and GAPDH.





(A) Trypan blue exclusion was used to determine the number of viable cells in CPCe and CPCeA over a four day time course (mean \pm SEM, n=4/group). (B) Proliferation rate of CPCe and CPCeA treated with and without Akt inhibitor V was determined by CyQuant assay over a three-day time course (mean \pm SEM, n=4/group). *p<.05 compared to CPCe at day 3.

Figure 1.3: Nuclear Akt modified CPCs mediate gene expression of cell cycle proteins

(A) Total mRNA was extracted from CPCe (n=3) and CPCeA (n=3) and run on a cell cycle RT² Profiler Cell Proliferation Array from SuperArray in triplicate. CPCeP and CPCe were normalized to GAPDH. Samples analyzed had \geq 2-fold difference from control, with p<0.05, (mean ± SEM, n=3). (B-C) Protein expression of Cyclin D1 (B), Chk1 and CDC2 (C) were examined in CPCe and CPCeA (mean ± SEM). *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to CPCe.







Figure 1.4: Nuclear Akt modified CPCs are refractory to *in-vitro* differentiation

C-kit expression was analyzed in CPCe and CPCeA treated with and without Dex for 7 days. GFP (green), c-kit (red), and nuclear stain Topro (blue).



Figure 1.5: Differentiated CPCeA have increased levels of pCREB

Immunoblot and quantitation analysis of phospho-CREB, total CREB, and GAPDH as loading control in CPCe and CPCeA treated with and without Dex.

Figure 1.6: Intramyocardial injection of CPCeA does not improve cardiac function 12-weeks post infarction

(A-C) Electrocardiographic assessment of AWD (A), FS (B), and EF (C), in sham (\bullet , n=4), vehicle (\bullet , n=7), CPCe (\blacktriangle , n=8), and CPCeA (\bullet , n=7), 12-weeks post-infarction (mean \pm SEM). (D-F) Cardiac function of sham (n=4), vehicle (n=5), CPCe (n=6), and CPCeA (n=5) were evaluated using *in vivo* hemodynamic measurements of LVDP (D), LVEDP (E), and dP/dT (F) 12-weeks post-intramyocardial injection (mean \pm SEM). ϕ p<.05, ϕ p<.01, ϕ pop<.001 compared to sham; #p<.05, ##p<.01, ###p<.001 compared to vehicle, * p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001 compared to CPCe.





Figure 1.7: Infarct size in CPCeA injected animals is comparable to CPCe injected hearts

Quantitation of infarction area in vehicle (n=3), CPCe (n=3), and CPCeA (n=4) treated hearts 12-weeks post injection (mean \pm SEM).





(A) Quantitation of the number of total, (B) eGFP+, and (C) eGFP- c-kit+ cells in hearts of mice injected with vehicle (n=3), CPCe (n=3), or CPCeA (n=4) (mean \pm SEM).

Figure 1.9: Phospho-CREB Attenuation in CPCeA increases lineage commitment

(A) Immunoblot and quantitation of Dex treated CPCe and CPCeA, incubated with and without Akt inhibitor. (B) qRT-PCR quantitation of TnT transcript levels in CPCe and CPCeA treated with or without Dex treatment and no AIV, (C) qRT-PCR quantitation of TnT transcript levels in CPCe and CPCeA, treated with or without Dex and with AIV. Values were normalized to CPCe treated with Dex.



CHAPTER II:

Enhancement of Myocardial Regeneration through Genetic Engineering of

Cardiac Progenitor Cells Expressing Pim-1 Kinase
INTRODUCTION

Stem cell-based interventional approaches for myocardial regeneration have recently generated substantial enthusiasm as a novel treatment for heart failure. Despite initial optimism, application of regenerative medicine in the myocardium has been stymied by the marginal regenerative potential of adoptively transferred stem cell populations. Experimental studies routinely find the vast majority of adoptively transferred stem cells die or vanish shortly after delivery. Thus, benefits observed are likely mediated by a small population of surviving cells, leading to the postulate: improving cardiac progenitor cell (CPC) survival and proliferation will have dramatic consequences for enhancing myogenesis and empower therapeutically relevant implementation of myocardial regeneration.

CPCs expressing the stem cell marker c-kit+ reside within the heart(3, 23), mediating maintenance and repair of damaged cardiac tissue in response to myocardial injury(3, 21, 24-26). CPCs have been isolated and used with modest success for treatment and regeneration of damaged heart tissue after infarction(1, 4, 20, 24). Ideally, to enhance the regenerative process, adoptively transferred CPCs would benefit from modification to promote cellular survival and proliferation without inhibiting lineage commitment and differentiation provided by appropriate environmental cues.

Previous studies by our group have identified a kinase responsible for cardioprotection downstream of Akt signaling named Pim-1(65), a conserved

serine/threonine protein kinase originally described as the proviral integration site of the Moloney murine leukemia virus(66). Primary downstream targets of Pim-1 include molecules responsible for regulation of cellular survival and mitotic activity(66-69, 100). The role of Pim-1 in promoting proliferation and transition through cell cycle has been extensively documented(69-73). Unlike native Akt regulated by phosphorylation, Pim-1 is constitutively activated and is produced in response to stress or pathologic injury in the myocardium. Pim-1 is also expressed in activated stem cells(101) as well as in endothelial(102) and vascular smooth muscle cells(67). While cardioprotective effects of Pim-1 are clear from our work(64, 65), the impact of Pim-1 as a mediator of myocardial regeneration remains to be explored. Results presented herein demonstrate the beneficial capacity of Pim-1 to enhance cardiac regeneration; advancing the concept of ex vivo gene therapy with cultured CPCs to enhance cardiogenesis when reintroduced into infarcted myocardium.

METHODS

Generation of Lentiviral Vectors

CPCs were genetically modified using a bicistronic lentiviral vector to deliver human Pim-1 gene under control of a <u>myeloproliferative</u> sarcoma virus LTR-<u>n</u>egative control region <u>d</u>eleted (MND) promoter and eGFP driven off a vIRES. Lentivirus was made as previously described(103). All constructs are third generation self-inactivating (99) lentiviral vectors and incorporate several elements to ensure long-term expression of the transgene. The MND promoter allows for high expression of the transgene, while the LTR allows for long-term expression after repeated passage (104, 105). The vectors also include (IFN)-bscaffold attachment region (SAR) element. The SAR element has been shown to be important in keeping the vector transcriptionally active by inhibiting methylation and protecting the transgene from being silenced (106-108). The human Pim-1 cDNA was amplified out using primers containing EcoR1 restriction sites at both ends in order to facilitate cloning into the lentiviral backbone.

Lentiviral preparation

Lv-egfp and Lv-egfp+Pim1 constructs were co-transfected with packaging plasmids pMDLg/pRRE, pRSV-rev, and VSVG into 293T cells. Media changed 16 hours later and viral supernatant harvested at 24 and 48 hours. High titer virus was achieved using ultracentrifugation and titer calculated using limiting dilutions of viral stock.

Cardiac Progenitor Cell Isolation, Culture, and Transductions

CPCs were isolated from syngenic male FVB mice as previously described(25) and cultured for 3-weeks in cardiac stem cell media. CPCs were plated (.2x10⁶ cells/well) in 48-well plates, transduced with lentivirus (MOI=10) with 4mg/ml polybrene, expanded, and analyzed by flow cytometry to determine percentage eGFP+ cells. CPCs were differentiated as previously described(25) using 10⁻⁸M dexamethasone.

Cardiac Stem Cell Medias

DMEM-F12 with 10% FBS, 1% PSG, .02ng/ml bFGF (Peprotech #100-18B), .4mg/ml EGF (Sigma #E9644), 1000U/ml LIF (Chemicon #ESG1107), and 1X ITS (Lonza #17-838Z). Differentiation media: aMEM, 10% FBS, 1% PSG, .22% sodium bicarbonate, 10nM Dexamethasone (Sigma # D4902), pH 7.2.

Myocardial Infarction, Injections, Echocardiography, and Hemodynamics

Briefly, 10-12 week old female FVB mice were anesthetized under isoflurane, intubated, and ventilated. A thoracotomy was performed and the LAD ligated. Vehicle, CPCe, or CPCeP were injected by blinded surgeon at five minutes post ligation around border zone in five sites with a total of 100,000 cells per heart. Infarction size was standardized by echocardiography performed on animals imaged along a parasternal short-axis view by M-mode recorded at 3 days post-infarction/injection. Lack of anterior wall motion in conjunction with at least 40% decrease in EF and FS were required for study inclusion. Hemodynamic performance assessed by echocardiography three days post-infarction was not statistically different between infarcted and injected groups (PBS, CPCe, and CPCeP). Closed chest hemodynamic assessment was performed on anesthetized mice prior to insertion of microtip pressure transducer (FT111B, Scisense) into the right carotid artery and advancement into left ventricle. The catheter was connected to an A/D converter (FV892A, Scisense) for data collection. After hemodynamic measurements, hearts were arrested in diastole and perfused with phosphatebuffered formalin.

SuperArrays

mRNA and cDNA from CPCe and CPCeP was obtained using Triazol (Invitrogen) and harvested per manufacture's protocol. Apoptosis (PAMM-012) and cell proliferation (APMM-012) arrays were obtained from SuperArray and ran per manufacturer's protocol.

Trypan Blue Exclusion and MTT assay

Uninfected, CPCe, and CPCeP, plated in quadruplicate (10,000 cells/well) in 24 well plates. Viable cells determined by trypan blue exclusion. For MTT assay 5000 cells/well were plated in 96-well plates, incubated 4-5 hours with 50mg of MTT reagent (Fluka), treated with 100ml stopping reagent (.01N HCI + 10% SDS) overnight at 37°C, and analyzed on a spectrophotometer at 570nm. Quercetagetin (Calbiochem, #551590) was incubated with cells at 10mM where indicated.

Confocal Microscopy

Heart sections were deparaffinized, antigen retrieved in 1mM Citrate (pH 6.0), followed by 1-hour block in TNB. Primary antibodies were incubated overnight at 4°C at appropriate dilutions (see Supplemental Methods). Slides washed in 1X TN followed by secondary antibody incubation, 2 hours at room temperature. Subsequent tyramide amplification was performed as necessary.

Telomere Length

Paraffin sections were prepared for in-situ hybridization and stained for telomere length as per manufacturers protocol (Dako).

Statistics

Statistics were calculated using SPSS software. One-way ANOVA and two-way repeated measures ANOVA for echocardiography with Tukey's post-hoc test were calculated. Values with p<.05 were considered statistically significant. Generalized estimating equations with empirical (robust) covariance estimation were used to confirm two-way ANOVA results.

Animal Studies

All animal studies were approved by IACUC.

RESULTS

Pim-1 lentiviral vector expression in cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs)

Bicistronic lentiviral vectors expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein alone (Lv-egfp) or in combination with Pim-1 kinase (Lv-egfp+Pim1) (Figure 2.1A) were used to introduce cDNA constructs into c-kit+ CPCs isolated from male nontransgenic (NTG) FVB mice. CPC populations modified with Lvegfp (CPCe) or with Lv-egfp+Pim1 (CPCeP) were subjected to immunoblot analyses to confirm protein expression of genomically integrated gene products. eGFP protein expression was present in CPCe and CPCeP and increased protein levels for Pim-1 in CPCeP samples (Figure 2.1B). CPC and CPCe showed low level endogenous Pim-1 protein expression.

Pim-1 increases CPC proliferation

CPCeP exhibit increased proliferation compared to CPCe (p<.05) and CPC (p<.001) as assessed by Trypan Blue exclusion (Figure 2.2A). In comparison, increased CPCe cell numbers observed at day 4 were not maintained at day 6. CPCeP also possess increased metabolic rates relative to CPCe at time zero (p<.001) or 48 hours (p<.001) *in vitro* as determined by MTT assay (Figure 2.2B). The increase in CPCeP growth rate was abrogated by addition of Quercetagetin (a specific Pim-1 activity inhibitor) after forty-eight and seventy-two hours (p<.001) relative to vehicle treated CPCeP (Figure 2.2C). Several mRNAs encoded by genes responsible for cell cycle arrest are downregulated in CPCeP by array analysis (Figure 2.3). Immunoblot analyses of CPCeP also show decreased expression of p27, a cell cycle dependent kinase inhibitor (Figure 2.2D). Thus, enhanced proliferation of CPCeP is likely due to altered regulation of cell cycle inhibitors.

CPCeP differentiate into cardiac, endothelial, and smooth muscle lineages

Flow cytometric analyses (Figure 2.4, Figure 2.5) confirmed CPCe and CPCeP had significant (p<.01) increases in MEF2C and vWF after treatment with dexamethasone (Dex)(23). CPCeP also had a significant increase (p<.001) in percent of cells staining positive for MEF2C compared to CPCe. These results indicate genetically modified CPCs are amenable to lineage commitment.

Additional phenotypic characterizations for cell markers consistent with cardiovascular lineages by immunolabeling confirmed CPCe and CPCeP coexpressed c-kit and MEF2C, a myocyte-specific transcription factor. Additionally, CPCeP also expressed VWF, an endothelial cell marker (Figure 2.6A). The endothelial nature of CPCeP was supported by uptake of acetylated-low density lipoprotein (Ac-LDL) showing a small percentage of CPCeP is Ac-LDL+, whereas Ac-LDL was undetectable in CPCe (Figure 2.6B). The capacity of genetically engineered CPCs to express cardiogenic markers consistent with lineage commitment was examined *in-vitro* by treatment with Dex. Immunostaining for cardiogenic lineages was performed using antibodies to c-kit, MEF2C, VonWillebrands Factor (vWF), and Gata6 to identify progenitor, cardiac, endothelial, and smooth muscle cells, respectively. Markers of all three lineages were detected by immunostaining following Dex treatment of CPCe or CPCeP (Figure 2.6C).

CPCeP improve cardiac function 12-weeks post myocardial infarction

Transgenic mice with cardiac-specific Pim-1 expression are resistant to infarction challenge (64, 65), therefore CPCeP should ameliorate pathological damage following adoptive transfer into infarcted myocardium. Twelve-week-old female mice, subjected to myocardial infarction, were treated with CPCe or CPCeP injected directly into the peri-ischemic border zone. Hearts of mice receiving CPCeP possessed thicker anterior wall dimension (AWD) compared to vehicle (p<.001) or CPCe (p<.01) injected mice (Figure 2.7A) by echocardiography at 2-weeks. Both groups receiving CPCs showed significant improvements in ejection fraction (EF) and fractional shortening (109) at 4-weeks post-delivery (p<0.05) relative to vehicle injected mice (p<.05) (Figure 2.7B-C). However, EF, FS (Figure 2.7B-C), left ventricular developed pressure (LVDP), left ventricular end diastolic pressure (LVEDP), and maximum dp/dt (Figure 2.8A-C) were not significantly different (p>0.05) between CPCe and CPCeP groups.

CPCeP injections were compared to mice receiving CPCe injections over an extended 12 week time course following delivery into infarcted hearts to assess long lasting beneficial effects. Injection of CPCe conferred improved function at one week after delivery, however transitioned into decompensation at 6-weeks, becoming indistinguishable from vehicle controls by 8-weeks (Figure 2.7B-C). In comparison, CPCeP injected mice maintained EF and FS and had significantly improved function relative to CPCe injected mice at 6-weeks following delivery. At 12-weeks, CPCeP treatment preserved EF and FS, whereas CPCe treated hearts suffer from a 2-fold and 1.6-fold decrease in function, respectively (Figure 2.7B-C). Significantly enhanced cardiac function in mice receiving CPCeP was confirmed by measurement of LVDP, LVEDP, and changes in ±dp/dt (Figure 2.7D-F) relative to mice receiving CPCe.

Injection of CPCeP leads to infarct reduction, de novo myocyte formation, and neovascularization

Hearts from CPCe and CPCeP injected animals were immunostained with sarcomeric tropomyosin to detect surviving myocardium at 12-weeks post-infarction. CPCeP injected hearts showed significant reductions in infarct size (1.5-fold; p<0.05; Figure 2.9A) and fibrosis (Figure 2.10) relative to CPCe treated. In CPCeP injected hearts 39.8% of the surviving myocardium within the infarct was eGFP+ (Figure 2.9B). This corresponded to a significant (p<.001) 4-fold increase compared to CPCe injected hearts.

Persistence and cellular phenotype of donated CPCs was examined at 12-weeks post-delivery by immunostaining myocardial sections with antibodies to eGFP co-localized with sarcomeric tropomyosin to detect myocytes as well as with connexin-43 suggesting formation of functional gap junctions with neighboring cells (Figure 2.9C). Coincident localization of eGFP and striated tropomyosin labeling is indicative of myocytes presumptively derived from the donated cell population in hearts receiving CPCeP. Interestingly, while de novo myocardium is formed in the central area of the infarcted region, the majority of regeneration from transplanted cells is at or adjacent to the border zone where cells are initially injected.

Together with myocyte labeling, vessels coincident with eGFP were observed by colocalization with antibodies to VonWillebrands Factor (vWF) (Figure 2.9D) or smooth muscle actin (Figure 2.9E) from vehicle treated, CPCe, and CPCeP injected hearts 12-weeks post-infarction. Quantitative assessment of lineage markers demonstrated that in CPCeP injected hearts 32.8% and 51.6% of the eGFP+ population stained positive for vWF and SMA (Figure 2.9F), respectively. This correlated to a significant 1.8- and 2.3-fold increase compared to CPCe, further implicating the CPCeP population in formation of new vasculature.

Telomeric length preservation in myocytes derived from CPCeP

Telomere length was measured in myocytes of mice receiving CPCeP in the border zone at 12-weeks after delivery. Presumptive de-novo myocytes derived from CPCeP as evidenced by coincidence of eGFP and tropomyosin labeling showed relatively greater telomeric length compared to resident eGFP- myocytes (Figure 2.11A). Additionally, cross sectional area of eGFP+ myocytes with long telomeres was significantly smaller compared to those cells with shorter telomeres (Figure 2.11A). Together, small eGFP+ myocytes with long telomeres suggests these cells are newly formed young cells presumably originating from the donated cell population. CPCeP origin for these small eGFP+ myocytes was supported by both immunohistochemical and PCR analyses. Small eGFP+ myocytes show coincident labeling for increased Pim-1 expression. The level of myocytespecific Pim-1 immunoreactivity in sections from CPCeP injected hearts was clearly greater than that observed for sections from receiving CPCe (Figure 2.11B). In addition, presence of genomic DNA of male origin was detected in cells (Figure 2.11C), as well as within the infarct region of female hearts (Figure 2.11D) by PCR for SRY, a gene located on the Y chromosome. Demonstration of DNA for eGFP encoded by insertion of the Lv-egfp or Lv-egfp+Pim1 sequences into the cellular genome corroborates the presence of cells derived from donor origin in the infarcted region (Figure 2.11D).

Increased number of c-kit+ cells in hearts receiving CPCeP show enhanced proliferation

Presence of c-kit+ cells within the infarct area was quantitated to assess enhanced recruitment of endogenous stem cells by CPCeP (20, 26, 110). CPCeP treated hearts had a 2.6-fold increase in total c-kit cells relative to CPCe at 12-weeks (Figure 2.12A and B). Quantitation of the number of eGFP+ c-kit+ cells in CPCeP injected hearts demonstrated CPCeP had a 6-fold increase compared to CPCe (Figure 2.12C). The number of eGFP- c-kit+ cells was not statistically different between CPCeP and CPCe (Figure 2.12D). Furthermore, at 5-weeks post infarction CPCeP injected animals maintain cardiac function while CPCe injected controls begin to display signs of cardiac failure determined by echocardiography. CPCe or CPCeP injected animals were given BrdU at 5-weeks post-infarction to assess whether sustained cardiac performance in CPCeP animals may be attributed to increased numbers of proliferating cells. Quantitation of the BrdU+ eGFP+ population demonstrates CPCeP injected animals have a significant (p<.001) 3-fold increase in the number of proliferating cells at 5-weeks (Figure 2.13A). At the 12 week time point co-expression of PCNA and eGFP were quantitated. Results were similar to that obtained at 5-weeks, whereby CPCeP injected animals had a significant 1.9-fold increase in the number of PCNA+ eGFP+ cells (Figure 2.13B).

CPCeP and CPCe injected mice were stained with TUNEL and eGFP to address CPCeP resistance to cell death sections from. At 5-weeks no TUNEL+ eGFP+ cells were found in CPCeP or CPCe injected mice. Interestingly CPCeP hearts had a significant 4-fold decrease in TUNEL+ eGFP- cells (Figure 2.13C). These data suggest injection of CPCeP has a protective effect on surrounding myocardium; however it is not yet known if CPCeP are refractory to apoptosis at time points before 5-weeks. Collectively, these results indicate CPCeP have an increased ability to survive and proliferate in the damaged myocardium compared to CPCe.

Persistent improvement in myocardial performance is afforded by CPCeP

Beneficial effects of adoptively transferred cell populations are often measured within days or a few weeks after delivery (20, 26, 111, 112), but genetic modification of CPC with Pim-1 may allow for long-term functional improvements not observed with normal cells. A 32-week longitudinal study

59

was performed to determine myocardial function in infarcted mice receiving vehicle, CPCe, or CPCeP. Validity of infarction was verified at three days by statistically equivalent decreases in EF, FS, and AWD (Figure 2.14A-C) of all three infarcted experimental groups. CPCeP injected mice showed improved FS and EF by one week following delivery sustained throughout the course of the study (Figure 2.14A-B). CPCeP injected hearts also had significantly increased AWD relative to CPCe injected hearts at 32-weeks (Figure 2.14C). In vivo hemodynamic analysis confirmed improved myocardial performance following CPCeP treatment, evidenced by decreased LVEDP, increased DP, and $\pm dp/dt$ (Figure 2.14D-F) relative to mice receiving CPCe. Heart weight to body weight ratios in CPCeP treated mice were comparable to sham operated controls and significantly smaller relative to CPCe and vehicleinjected controls (Figure 2.14G; p<.05). Cardiac remodeling as determined by Law of Laplace revealed the ratio of left ventricular diameter (r) to wall thickness (h) was significantly decreased in mice receiving CPCeP at 36-weeks post-delivery (Figure 2.14H). Results from the 32-week time course validate results obtained in the 12-week study (Figure 2.7) and demonstrate persistent and significant improvement in myocardial performance and remodeling afforded only by CPCeP.

CPCeP engraftment and commitment persists up to 32-weeks post intramyocardial injection

Myocardial samples from mice receiving CPCe and CPCeP were examined for presence of adoptively transferred cells as evidenced by presence of immunoreactivity for eGFP coincident with markers of cardiogenic lineages at 32-weeks post-delivery. Myocytes expressing eGFP were detected in hearts receiving either CPCe or CPCeP. Similar to observations at 12-weeks (Figure 2.9A), hearts receiving CPCeP showed a significant 1.3-fold reduction in infarct size (Figure 2.15A). In CPCeP injected hearts 32.8% of the surviving myocardium was eGFP+ (Figure 2.15B,C). This corresponded to a significant (p<.001) 6-fold increase compared to CPCe injected hearts. CPCeP injected animals also had significant increases in total c-kit+ cells (2.9-fold) at 32-weeks relative to CPCe injected hearts. CPCeP injected hearts had a significant 7.9-fold increase in the number of eGFP+ ckit+ cells compared to CPCe, while number of eGFP- c-kit+ cells was not statistically different between the two groups (Figure 2.15D-G). Hearts of mice receiving CPCeP showed a 71% increase in vascular density in the infarct region visualized by immunostaining for smooth muscle actin, with 74% more vessels characterized by small diameter of 1-2 cells evident in the circumference (Figure 2.15H-J).

DISCUSSION

A revolution in the treatment of heart disease has begun, initiated by discovery of stem cell-mediated myocardial regeneration (23, 113, 114). As the field matures key observations and recurrent themes continually emerge from experimental and clinical studies: 1) myocardial structure and function are consistently and reproducibly improved although degree of benefit is modest, 2) the vast majority of adoptively transferred stem cells are lost due to death or poor retention after delivery, 3) long-term efficacy of the regenerative process mediated by adoptively transferred cells remains debatable, due in part to their short-lived nature, 4) therapeutically relevant implementation of stem cell-based myocardial repair ultimately depends upon enhancing the modest regenerative effects currently observed, and 5) ex vivo modification or treatment of adoptively transferred stem cells significantly enhances reparative and regenerative processes. The first four observations point out present day stem cell-based myogenesis and regeneration approaches fall short of the efficacy desired for reconstitution of myocardial tissue following cardiomyopathic injury. However, the last point offers hopes in the form of engineering stem cells to enhance their regenerative capacity.

Several laboratories have demonstrated impressive gains in blunting infarction damage through use of stem cells modified by genetic engineering (58, 60, 115, 116) or exposure to environmental, chemical, and biological treatments prior to delivery (57, 115, 117, 118). A consistent theme from these studies is that the ex vivo manipulation of the stem cell population has salutary effects for the adoptively transferred cells but also for the host myocardium upon reintroduction. The mechanistic basis of these treatments has been linked to enhanced cellular survival, secretion of paracrine factors, activation of endogenous repair processes, and contribution of the donated cells to formation of de novo myocardium. Among studies of ex vivo stem cell modification, activation of survival kinases such as Akt, is an effective strategy for potentiating stem cell regeneration, but severely limited or complete lack of direct participation in de novo tissue formation and marginal long-term engraftment of engineered cells remains a serious limitation (57-59, 61, 119, 120). Downstream of nuclear Akt signaling we identified Pim-1 (65) kinase that stabilizes pro-proliferative proteins and influences their subcellular localization through phosphorylation and/or direct association. Examples include nuclear export and subsequent degradation of cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors p27 and p21 (72, 73), stabilization of c-myc (69), and mitotic complex assembly with NuMA(70). Additionally CPCs from Pim-1 transgenic mice show elevated levels of nucleostemin, a protein whose expression is associated with maintenance of proliferation in stem cells (74). Consistent with Pim-1's role in increased proliferation, our studies demonstrate injection of CPCeP promotes increased density of eGFP+ c-kit+ cells in the region of infarction (Figure 2.12B, 2.15B). As well, anti-apoptotic(121, 122) and pro-proliferative (66) actions of Pim-1 were observed with CPCs in vitro (Figure 2.2 and 2.3) and in vivo (Figure

2.13). CPCeP promote salutary effects relative to CPCe for up to 32-weeks (Figure 2.7, 2.10), presumably by conferring upon the limited number (100,000) of donated cells increased ability to survive and proliferate (Figure 2.13). CPCeP may also provide enhanced survival and increased cycling of the resident (GFP-) myocardium (Figure 2.13) through both paracrine effects and formation of de novo vasculature.

Stem cells derived from the heart, capable of generating myocytes and vasculature(4, 23, 67), may be "primed" for differentiation into cardiac lineages as evidenced by expression of c-kit in conjunction with MEF2C and NKX2.5 and increased expression of vWF (Figure 2.4, 2.9, 2.5A,C, and 2.6). Consistent with the role of Pim-1 in endothelial cell differentiation(102), CPCeP express vWF prior to differentiation (Figure 2.6A) and incorporate Ac-LDL (Figure 2.6B). CPCeP hearts also had significant increases in eGFP+ cells staining positive for vasculature markers vWF and SMA (Figure 2.9F). Pim-1 is also necessary for vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation, while knockdown inhibited capillary formation and reduced VSMC proliferation(67). These results infer that CPCeP may be predisposed toward vasculature lineages and suggests CPCeP-mediated angiogenesis may enhance new myocyte formation as well as retention of existing myocytes. Intramyocardial injection of CPCs has been shown to enhance cardiac function 4-weeks after injection(20, 21, 26, 112), but functionally relevant myocardial regeneration requires long-term repopulation of all three cardiac lineages: myocytes,

endothelial, and VSMC. Collectively, our results indicate CPCeP possess the inherent ability to provide such persistent multifaceted cellular repair.

Evidence of engraftment and differentiation of adoptively transferred stem cells remains a major focus of contention, but persistent presence of the donated CPCeP population is supported by immunostaining for Pim-1 (Figure 2.11B) as well as presence of SRY and eGFP DNA by PCR in cells and infarcted hearts (Figure 2.11C-D). Increased telomere length in small eGFP+ myocytes relative to small eGFP- myocytes in hearts receiving CPCeP (Figure 2.11A) are consistent with de novo myocyte formation from the CPCeP population.

Autologous stem cell therapy suffers from critical limitations in cellular survival and persistence that may be amenable to ex vivo genetic modification for regenerative therapy. However, lentiviral modification allowing chromosomal integration and long-term persistence also poses regulatory and safety concerns. Although oncogenic transformation has not been observed with CPCeP, safe and efficacious viral modification of CPCs may require inducible Pim-1 expression. Taken together our data suggest Pim-1 mediated CPC reprogramming provides profound improvements in cardiac structure and function that may prove to be superior to current treatment modalities. The long-term goal is to advance these findings toward translational therapeutic implementation of ex vivo gene therapy to enhance stem cell-based cardiac myogenesis.

Chapter 2, in full, is a reprint of the material as it appears in Circulation 2009. Fischer KM, Cottage CT, Wu W, Din S, Gude NA, Avitabile D, Quijada P,

Collins BL, Fransioli J, Sussman MA. 2009. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.





Figure 2.1: Lentiviral gene expression in c-kit+ CPCs

(A) Self-inactivating lentiviral vectors, termed Lv-egfp (GFP control) and Lv-egfp+Pim1. (B) Representative immunoblot of CPC (n=3), CPCe (n=3), and CPCeP (n=3), immunolabeled for Pim-1, GFP, and GAPDH.

Figure 2.2: Pim-1 increases the proliferation rate of CPCs in vitro

(A) The number of viable cells as determined by trypan blue exclusion was determined for CPCeP, CPCe, and CPCs over a six day time course (mean ± SEM, n=4/group).
(B) Metabolic rate of CPCeP, CPCe, and CPCs was measured by MTT assay over a 48 hour time course (mean ± SEM, n=4/group).
(C) Metabolic rate evaluated by MTT assay in CPCeP treated with and without 10mM Quercetagetin over a 72 hour time course (mean ± SEM, n=4/group).
(D) Immunoblot analysis of p27 protein in CPCeP, CPCe, and CPCs (n=3/group). *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001.





Figure 2.3: Pim-1 transduced CPCs mediate expression of genes involved in proliferation

Total mRNA was extracted from CPCe (n=3) and CPCeP (n=3) cells and run on the cell cycle RT² Profiler Cell Proliferation Array from SuperArray in triplicate. CPCeP and CPCe were normalized to GAPDH. Samples analyzed had \geq 2-fold difference from control, with p<0.05, (mean ± SEM, n=3).



Figure 2.4: Flow cytometric analysis of CPCe and CPCeP

Analysis of cardiogenic lineages of CPCe and CPCeP before (dark blue and dark green) and after (light blue and light green) dexamethasone treatment (mean ± SEM, n=3/group). ++p<.01 compared to CPCe –Dex. **p<.01 compared to CPCe +Dex.



Figure 2.5: Phenotypic FACS characterization of CPCe and CPCeP in vitro

Flow cytometric analysis of CPCe (n=3) and CPCeP (n=3) treated with and without dexamethasone for seven days stained with specific antibodies and analyzed.

Figure 2.6: Phenotypic characterization of CPCe and CPCeP in vitro

(A) Immunolabeling of CPCe and CPCeP for cardiac (Mef2C), endothelial (VonWillebrands Factor), and smooth muscle (Gata6). White arrowheads indicate cells of interest. In each case eGFP is represented in green, lineage marker in red, and Topro-3-iodide (nuclei) in blue. (B) Ac-LDL-Dil uptake assay in CPCe and CPCeP using HUVEC positive control. (C) Immunolabeling of CPCe (n=3) and CPCeP (n=3) ran in triplicate after exposure for 7 days to dexamethasone for cardiac (Mef2C), endothelial (VonWillebrands Factor), and smooth muscle (Gata6). White arrowheads indicate cells of interest.



B huvec







CPCeP

Figure 2.7: Intramyocardial injection of CPCeP improves cardiac function 12weeks post infarction

(A-C) Electrocardiographic assessment of AWD (A), EF (B), and FS (C), in sham (\bullet , orange, n=8), vehicle (\bullet , black, n=9), CPCe (\blacktriangle , blue, n=8), and CPCeP (\bullet , green, n=9), 12-weeks post-infarction (mean ± SEM). (D-F) Cardiac function of sham (orange, n=5), vehicle (black, n=5), CPCe (blue, n=5), and CPCeP (green, n=5) were evaluated using *in vivo* hemodynamic measurements of LVDP (D), LVEDP (E), and dP/dT (F) 12-weeks post-intramyocardial injection (mean ± SEM). ϕ p<.01, ϕ p<.01, ϕ p<.01 compared to sham; #p<.01, ***p<.001 compared to CPCe. Echocardiography significant (p<.05) by two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



(A-C) In-vivo hemodynamic measurements of left ventricular developed pressure (DP) (A), left ventricular end diastolic pressure (Ped) (B), and dP/dT maximum and minimum (C) assessing cardiac function of sham (n=4), vehicle (n=4), CPCe (n=4), and CPCeP (n=4) injected animals 4 weeks post-intramyocardial injection (mean \pm SEM). ϕ p<.05, $\phi\phi$ p<.01 compared to Sham and *p<.05 compared to CPCe.



Figure 2.9: De novo myocyte formation and neovascularization results in reduction of infarct size in CPCeP treated animals

(A) Quantitation of infarction area in vehicle (n=5), CPCe (n=6), and CPCeP (n=6) treated hearts 12-weeks post injection (mean \pm SEM). (B) Quantitation of Tropomyosin+ eGFP+ cells in CPCe (n=6) and CPCeP (n=6) animals (mean \pm SEM). (C-E) Representative immunostaining for colocalization of eGFP (green) and cardiac myocytes (tropomyosin, red) and connexin-43 (white) (C), endothelial cells (vWF, red) (D), and smooth muscle cells (SMA, red) (E) in vehicle, CPCe, and CPCeP treated hearts 12-weeks post-intramyocardial injection. Enlarged areas are represented with indicated boxes. Scale bars represent 40mm. (F) Quantitation of eGFP+ population in CPCe (n=6) and CPCeP (n=6) for cardiac lineage markers.



Tropomyosin



SMA

0 -

vWF



Figure 2.10: Decreased fibrosis in heart of CPCeP treated animals

Representative images of Masson's Trichrome staining in hearts from CPC, CPCe, and CPCeP injected mice.



Figure 2.11: Preserved telomere length in CPCeP and detection of male SRY gene

(A) Quantitation of telomeric length in small to large border zone myocytes in the hearts of CPCeP injected mice 12-weeks post infarction (mean ± SEM, n=3). (B) Myocytes (tropomyosin, blue) immunolabeled for Pim-1 (4), eGFP (green), and nuclei (white) in CPCe and CPCeP treated hearts 12-weeks post infarction. (*p<.05, **p<.01). (C) PCR of genomic DNA of lentivirally infected cells, CPCe and CPCeP, to confirm male origin. (D) PCR of genomic DNA detecting SRY and eGFP from excised infarct region in CPCe and CPCeP injected hearts 12-weeks post infarction. Scale bars represent 40mm.


Figure 2.12: CPCeP treated hearts have increased numbers of c-kit+ cells 12weeks post intramyocardial injection

(A) Immunostaining for c-kit and eGFP (green) in heart sections from mice treated with CPCe (n=6) or CPCeP (n=6) 12-weeks post-intramyocardial injection. Enlarged areas are represented with indicated boxes. (B) Quantitation of the number of total, (C) eGFP+, and (D) eGFP- c-kit+ cells in hearts of mice injected with CPCe (n=6) or CPCeP (n=6) (mean ± SEM). Scale bars represent 120mm in top panels.



Figure 2.13: Increased proliferation of CPCeP in-vivo

(A) Quantitation of BrdU+ GFP+ colocalization in CPCe (n=4) and CPCeP (n=4) injected animals at 5 weeks post infarction and CPC injection. (B) Quantitation of PCNA and GFP colocalization in CPCe (n=6) and CPCeP (n=6) injected animals 12 weeks post infarction and CPC injection. (C) Quantitation of TUNEL+ GFP+ cells in CPCe (n=4) and CPCeP (n=4) injected animals at 5 weeks post infarction and CPC injection.

Figure 2.14: Long-term persistent cardiac functional recovery in animals treated with CPCeP

(A-C) Electrocardiographic assessment of FS (A), EF (B), and AWD (C), in sham (\bullet , orange, n=6), vehicle (\bullet , black, n=9), CPCe (\blacktriangle , blue, n=9), and CPCeP (\bullet , green, n=6), 32-weeks post-infarction (mean \pm SEM). Statistics for each time point are provided in Table S1. (D-F) Cardiac function of sham (n=5), vehicle (n=5), CPCe (n=5), and CPCeP (n=5) were evaluated using *in vivo* hemodynamic measurements of LVEDP (D), LVDP (E), and dP/dT (F), 32-weeks post-intramyocardial injection (mean \pm SEM). (G) Heart weight: body weight ratios. Statistically significant p<.05 (ANOVA). (H) Wall stress assessment comparing ratio of left ventricular diameter (r) to wall thickness (h) from sham (n=6), vehicle (n=9), CPCe (n=9), and CPCeP (n=6) treated animals (mean \pm SEM). ϕ p<.05, $\phi\phi$ p<.01, $\phi\phi\phi$ p<.001 compared to sham; #p<.05, ##p<.01, ###p<.001 compared to vehicle, * p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001 compared to CPCe. Echocardiography significant (p<.05) by two-way repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 2.15: Persistent engraftment and differentiation of Pim-1 expressing CPCs 32-weeks post intramyocardial injection

(A) Infarct size measurement, (B) quantitation of Tropomyosin+ eGFP+ cells, (C) and confocal micrographs of hearts injected with CPCe (n=3) or CPCeP (n=3) 32-weeks post-infarction. (mean \pm SEM). Sections were stained for eGFP (green), Tropomyosin (4), c-kit (white), and nuclear stain Topro-3-iodide (blue). Quantitation of total (D), eGFP+ (E), and eGFP- (F) c-kit+ cells in heart sections from mice treated with CPCe (n=3) or CPCeP (n=3) 32-weeks post-infarction. (G) Immunolabeling with eGFP (green), c-kit (4), tropomyosin (blue), and nuclear stain Topro-3-iodide (white). (H) Quantitation of total number of vessels, (I) small vessels and (J) immunolabeling for vasculature in hearts from mice treated with CPCe (n=3) or CPCeP (n=3) 32-weeks post-infarction. Sections were stained with eGFP (green), smooth muscle actin (4), tropomyosin (blue), and nuclear stain Topro-3-iodide (white). Mean \pm SEM, n=3, * p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001. Scale bars represent 50mm.



Primary Ab	Species	Dilution	Amplification	Manufacturer
c-kit	Goat	1:40	Yes	R&D Systems
Pim-1	Rabbit	1:500	Yes	CST
Tropomyosin	Mouse	1:75	No	Sigma
GFP	Rabbit	1:500	Yes	Molecular
				Probes
vWF	Rabbit	1:100	No	Sigma
Mef2C	Rabbit	1:100	No	Invitrogen
Connexin 43	Rabbit	1:100	Yes	Sigma
SMA	Rabbit	1:300	No	Inviva

Table 2.1: Immunohistochemisty Antibody Table

Table 2.2: Thirty-two week echocardiography statistical analysis

Fractional Shortening	3 days	7 days	2 weeks	4 weeks	6 week	8 week	10 week	12 wee	k 15 wee	k 18 we	ek 21 we	ek 22 w	eek 23 w	eek 24 w	reek 26 we	ek 28 wee	k 32 we	ek (
Sham vs Vehicle	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.	001				
Sham vs CPCe	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001				
Sham vs CPCeP	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.0(11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	01 P < 0.01	P < 0.	001				
Vehicle vs CPCe	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.05	P < 0.01	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.()5 P < 0.1	05 P > 0.	05 P > 0	.05 P>0	.05 P > 0.	05 P > 0.05	P > 0.	95
Vehicle vs CPCeP	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.	001 P < 0	.01 P<0	.01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	5
CPCe vs CPCeP	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.01	P < 0.001	P < 0.01	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	01 P < 0	.05 P < 0	.01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001
Ejection Fraction																		
Sham vs Vehicle	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.	10				
Sham vs CPCe	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001				
Sham vs CPCeP	P < 0.001	P < 0.01	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.09	5 P < 0.0	11 P < 0.	01 P<0	05 P < 0	.05 P < 0	.01 P < 0.	0.05 P > 0.05	5 P < 0.	001
Vehicle vs CPCe	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.01	P < 0.001	1 P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	5 P > 0.()5 P < 0.	05 P > 0.	05 P > 0	.05 P > 0	.05 P > 0.	05 P > 0.05	5 P > 0.	92
Vehicle vs CPCeP	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.	001 P < 0	.01 P<0	.01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001
CPCe vs CPCeP	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.01	P < 0.001	P < 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.0(11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.	01 P < 0	.05 P < 0	.01 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001
Anterior Wall Dimension																		
Sham vs Vehicle	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.0(11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001				
Sham vs CPCe	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001				
Sham vs CPCeP	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.0(11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.001 P < 0	.001 P < 0.	001 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.1	001				
Vehicle vs CPCe	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.09	P < 0.0	11 P > 0.	05 P > 0.	05 P > 0	.05 P>0	.05 P > 0.	05 P > 0.05	5 P > 0.	95
Vehicle vs CPCeP	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.01	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(01 P < 0.	001 P < 0	001 P < 0	.05 P < 0	.05 P < 0.	01 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.	001
CPCe vs CPCeP	P > 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.05	P > 0.05	P < 0.001	1 P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.00	1 P < 0.00	11 P < 0.(11 P < 0.	001 P < 0.	01 P>0	.05 P<0	.05 P > 0.	05 P < 0.01	P < 0.	10
]

CHAPTER III:

Pim-1 Localization Influences Cellular Survival and Proliferation

INTRODUCTION

The serine threonine kinase Pim-1 is well known as a potent oncogene (66, 101, 123-126), stimulating pro-proliferative and anti-apoptotic effects upon a variety of cell populations (66, 68, 71, 72, 101, 122, 127). Similarly, overexpression of Pim-1 in the heart is also pro-proliferative and anti-apoptotic and promotes cardiac progenitor cell cycling (95, 127), expression of anti-apoptotic proteins (64, 65), and protects the heart from pathological damage (64, 65, 95). It remains unknown however, how Pim-1 governs these two distinct aspects of cardioprotection.

Previous studies by our group have demonstrated Pim-1 protein is highly expressed in the neonatal mouse heart, declining as the mice progress into adulthood (65). Additionally, Pim-1 protein expression in the heart is reactivated after pathological injury such as myocardial infarction (MI) or pressure overload. Interestingly, the localization of Pim-1 expression during these periods of activation is strikingly different (65). During periods of cardiac growth, Pim-1 expression is primarily nuclear in myocytes, potentially regulating cell cycle proteins previously demonstrated to interact with Pim-1, including p27 (73), p21 (71, 72), c-myc (69), and NUMA (70). In contrast, after pathological injury, Pim-1 expression is largely cytoplasmic, where it may be preventing cell death through interactions with Bcl2, BAD (65, 122), and/or Bclxl (128). Recently is has been demonstrated cardiac specific overexpression of Pim-1 kinase provided protective benefits to the heart by inhibiting oxidative stress induced cell death by preventing mitochondrial depolarization and release of cytochrome c (109). These initial studies and observations led to the hypothesis that different stimuli may effect the localization of Pim-1, prompting the cell to proliferate or to stimulate survival signaling in order to abrogate cell death. Taken together, we believe that nuclear localization of Pim-1 kinase promotes proliferation while mitochondrial localization of Pim-1 inhibits cell death.

Herein, this chapter focuses on the design of viral vectors in order to investigate the proliferative and protective effects garnered by constructs delivering Pim-1 kinase to the nuclear or mitochondrial compartment of the cell. Understanding the mechanisms of how Pim-1 specifically influences cell survival and proliferation will provide strategies to safely improve upon stem cell mediated cardiac regeneration.

METHODS

Adenoviral vectors and generation of adenovirus

Adenoviral constructs were designed beginning from specific constructs to deliver the gene of interest to the nucleus, pCMV/myc/nuc (Invitrogen, catalog #V82120), or the mitochondria, pCMV/myc/mito (Invitrogen, catalog #V82220). Human Pim-1 cDNA was cloned into specific targeting vectors, after which the construct was removed through restriction digest and cloned into the pShuttle adenoviral backbone (Stratagene, catalog #240010). Subsequent plasmids were treated as per the AdEasy XL Adenoviral Vector System protocol to generate adenovirus. Adenovirus was amplified, purified by cesium chloride gradient, and titer determined by plaque assay.

Transfections

Cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs) or 293Ts were plated in six well dishes at 50,000 cells per well. The next day Fugene Reagent (Roche) was used to deliver 1ug of DNA to cells. Cells were harvested for western blot 48 hours later.

Cardiac Progenitor Cell Isolation, Cell culture, and Adenoviral Infection

CPCs were isolated from 10-12 week old male FVB mice and cultured in cardiac stem cell (CSC) media: DMEM F-12, 10% FBS, 1% PSG, 1X ITS (Lonza, 17-838Z), .4mg/ml EGF (Sigma, E9644), .02ng/ml bFGF (Peprotech, 100-18B), and 1000U/ml LIF (Chemicon #ESG1107). CPCs were plated in 6-well bottom plates at 50,000 cells per well and transduced with adenovirus (NLS or mito

constructs) at an MOI of 50 for 2 hours. CPCs were washed 18 hours later and fresh CSC media was added. Cells were expanded and analyzed by flow cytometry to determine the percentage of GFP+ cells.

Neonatal Rat Ventricular Cardiomyocyte Cell culture and Adenoviral Infection

NRCMs were plated on permanox coated slides at 70,000 per well in M199 media containing 10% FBS and 1% PSG. Cells were washed twice with PBS and infected with adenovirus (NLS or mitochondrial constructs) at an MOI of 50 for 2 hours, washed and replaced with fresh media. Forty-eight hours later cells were analyzed by flow cytometry to determine percentage of GFP+ cells.

Apoptotic treatments, Annexin V/ 7AAD analysis and TUNEL Assay

NRVCM or CPC cultures were infected with NLS or mitochondrial adenoviral constructs and treated 36 hours later with 250nM Staurosporin for 40 hours to induce cell death. Samples were then analyzed by flow cytometry after being stained with Annexin V and 7AAD (BD Pharmingen) to determine the percentage of early and late apoptotic cells. TUNEL assay was performed on cells treated with and without 250nM Staurosporin as per manufacturer's protocol (TMR Red TUNEL assay, Roche) to determine percentage of TUNEL positive cells.

CyQuant and MTT Assay

GFP-NLS, Pim1-NLS, mito-GFP, and mito-Pim1 infected CPCs were plated in quadruplicate (3500 cells/well) in 96 well flat bottom plates. CyQuant reagent

was added to the media at day 1 and day 3 as per manufactures protocol. Reagent was incubated for 45 minutes and read on a spectrophotometer at 530nm on day one, three, and five. For MTT assay, infected cells were plated the same as for CyQuant assay, however MTT reagent was added (1.2mM final concentration), incubated for 4 hours, after which stopping reagent was added (10% SDS +.015M HCI). Plates were read on a spectrophotometer at 595nM on day one, three and five.

Confocal Microscopy

NRVCMs were plated at 70,000 cells per well and CPCs plated at 25,000 cells per well on permanox coated plastic slides. Cells were fixed post-treatment in 4% PFA, washed twice in 1X PBS and blocked for one hour in 10% horse serum. Primary antibodies were incubated overnight at 4°C at appropriate dilutions. Slides were washed in 1X PBS followed by secondary antibody incubation, 2 hours at room temperature.

Statistics

Statistics were calculated using SPSS software. One-way ANOVA and two-way repeated measures ANOVA for echocardiography with Tukey's post-hoc test were calculated. Student's T test was used where appropriate. Values with p<.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Design of Nuclear and Mitochondrial Pim-1 Constructs

Nuclear and mitochondrial targeted adenoviral constructs were designed to deliver GFP or GFP fused to Pim-1 kinase, to neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes (NRVCMs) or cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs) (Figure 3.1A). All constructs included a fused myc-tag to facilitate identification in future studies. Transient transfections were performed on CPCs to demonstrate protein expression of fused products of nuclear-targeted GFP (GFP-NLS), nuclear-targeted Pim-1 (Pim1-NLS), mitochondrial-targeted GFP (mito-GFP), and mitochondrial-targeted Pim-1 (mito-Pim1) constructs. GFP-NLS and Pim1-NLS CPCs expressed myc-tag and GFP proteins, while only Pim1-NLS CPCs overexpressesed Pim-1 protein (Figure 3.1B, left). Similar results were obtained with mito-GFP and mito-Pim1 CPCs, whereby both constructs expressed myc-tag and GFP proteins, while Pim-1 protein was only overexpressed in mito-Pim1 transfected CPCs (Figure 3.1B). Further confirmation of proper protein expression of fused gene products was demonstrated by fluorescence microscopy analysis of transfected CPCs. GFP expression in NLS-GFP and NLS-Pim1CPCs was nuclear (Figure 3.1C, middle panel) while mito-GFP and mito-Pim1 expressing CPCs expressed GFP in the cytosol (Figure 3.1C, right panel). Wild type GFP and wild type Pim-1 were provided as a comparison (Figure 3.1C, left panel).

Expression and Localization of Mitochondrial Pim-1 and Nuclear Pim-1

Proper localization of mito-Pim1 and Pim1-NLS in adenoviral constructs was determined by immunocytofluorescence (ICF). Mito-GFP and mito-Pim1 infected NRVCMs and CPCs demonstrated precise co-localization of GFP and the mitochondrial specific protein Tom20 (Figure 3.2A and B, top panels). Similarly, GFP-NLS and Pim1-NLS infected NRVCMs and CPCs demonstrated co-localization of GFP protein with the nuclear marker Topro-3-iodide (Figure 3.2A and B, bottom panels).

Mitochondrial Pim-1 attenuates STS induced cell death in CPCs

Mito-Pim1 expressing CPCs attenuate staurosporine (STS) induced cell death when compared to STS treated Pim-NLS CPCs and non-infected control CPCs (Figure 3.3). While mito-Pim1 expressing CPCs abrogate cell death to a greater extent, both mito-Pim1 and Pim1-NLS expressing CPCs exhibit decreased expression of Annexin V and 7AAD (Figure 3.3A) compared to uninfected controls treated with STS.

Nuclear localized Pim-1 Influences Cell Proliferation

Nuclear localized Pim-1 was expressed in CPCs and had significantly reduced metabolic activity compared to control and mitochondrial Pim-1 infected CPCs at day three (Figure 3.4). Interestingly, mitochondrial localized Pim-1 increased the rate of CPC metabolic activity compared to Pim1-NLS and Pim control at day three (Figure 3.4).

DISCUSSION

Over the last ten years regenerative medicine has offered up new hope for the treatment of heart failure. At the inception of regenerative medicine for the heart, it appeared only modest improvements could be gained by delivering stem cells after pathological damage. However, consistent observations began to emerge, highlighting fundamental problems that had to be surmounted in order to provide therapeutically relevant improvement in cardiac structure and function. One primary goal focused on improving the proliferation and survival of the adoptively transferred stem cell pool within the damaged myocardium. Addressing this concern led the field to explore genetic modification of stem cells with pro-survival genes. A substantial number of studies now document improved cardiac performance after delivery of stem cells modified with cardioprotective genes compared to unmodified cells (30, 46, 49, 58, 60, 62, 95, 129). Protective benefits provided by genetically enhanced stem cells arise from protective paracrine signaling (55, 57, 59, 130) as well differentiation and integration of the genetically modified stem cells to into the surviving myocardium (4, 63, 95). Enhancing the ability of progenitor cells to survive and proliferate often requires overexpressing genes that may interfere with mechanisms governing normal cell cycle and survival. Thus a precise understanding of how cardioprotective genes, such as Pim-1, increase survival and proliferation of progenitor cells is critical to the safety of regenerative therapies.

Previous studies demonstrate Pim-1 has distinct localization patterns within the heart depending on age or pathological status. Nuclear localization of Pim-1 was observed in young hearts, while perinuclear and cytosolic localization was observed after TAC banding or infarction. In support of this last point, a recent publication demonstrated transgenic animals overexpressing cardiac specific Pim-1 protected the heart by attenuating mitochondrial depolarization and release of cytochrome c. Taken together these data support the idea that Pim-1 enhances proliferation when nuclear and is inhibits cell death when localized to the mitochondria. To this end, the current chapter provides a system that allows for the separate investigation of survival and proliferation pathways influenced by Pim-1.

Adenoviral constructs were used to successfully deliver Pim-1 to the nucleus or mitochondria of both CPCs and NRVCMs (Figure 3.1 and 3.2). Preliminary in-vitro data suggest mitochondrial Pim-1 transduced CPCs inhibit STS induced cell death compared to Pim-1-NLS and non-infected controls (Figure 3.3A).

Cell proliferation was evaluated using an MTT assay to assess metabolic activity. These results were at odds with our hypothesis in that Pim1-NLS CPCs had significantly lower MTT activity compared to mito-Pim1 CPCs. Although MTT is often used as an assay to assess cell number, the assay measures mitochondrial reductase enzyme and therefore may not accurately reflect cell proliferation. Further experiments are planned to more accurately test cell proliferation. Interestingly, we also observed Pim1-NLS, at low MOI, appears to be localized primarily in the nucleolar compartment. These results support previous studies by our group indicating that nucleostemin, a nucleolar protein involved in promoting proliferation, is significantly elevated in Pim-1 transgenic mice. Further studies are planned to investigate the interaction and significance of Pim-1 at the nucleolar compartment.

Our preliminary data also demonstrate that adenoviral infection efficiencies are relatively low, resulting in approximately 30% GFP positive population as indicated by FACS analysis (data not shown). Given the low transduction efficiency our results may underestimate the effects of nuclear or mitochondrial targeted Pim-1. Future studies include the design of lentiviral constructs to deliver Pim-1 to the nucleus or mitochondria in order to make stable lines. Stable lines facilitate future experiments allowing for the selection of a more pure population. Additionally these new vectors will incorporate the use of a bicistronic vector in order to more accurately reflect protein conformation in-vivo. The current adenoviral vectors are fusion proteins of Pim-1 with GFP as well as a myc-tag. The size of this fusion protein may inhibit proper expression of the protein, proper folding, and/or activity. Although future experiments are planned to confirm downstream targets are properly phosphorylated by Pim-1 fusion constructs, it is likely that vectors more closely representing endogenous Pim-1 conformation will produce more accurate results.

Taken together, the results presented here provide a platform on which to base future experiments assessing the effect of Pim-1 localization on proliferation and cell survival. Preliminary data suggest Pim-1 influences these pathways but mechanistically remains to be elucidated.



FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Nuclear and Mitochondrial Targeted Pim-1 Constructs

(A) Schematic of nuclear-targeted GFP (GFP-NLS) and Nuclear Pim-1 (Pim1-NLS) as well as mitochondrial-targeted GFP (mito-GFP) and mitochondrial Pim-1 (mito-Pim1). (B) Immunoblot analysis of CPCs transfected with GFP-NLS, Pim1-NLS, or mito-GFP and mito-Pim1 constructs. (C) Immunocytofluorescence demonstrating localization of fused constructs in wild type GFP and Pim-1 (left panels), GFP-NLS and Pim1-NLS (middle panels), or mito-GFP and mito-Pim1 (right panels).

Figure 3.2: NRVCMs and CPCs Infected with Mitochondrial Targeted or Nuclear

Targeted Pim-1 Adenoviral Constructs

(A) NRVCMs and (B) CPCs were infected with adenoviral constructs expressing mito-GFP or mito-Pim1 and GFP-NLS or GFP-Pim1. GFP (green) expression was co-localized with either the mitochondrial specific marker Tom20 (red) or the nuclear DNA stain Topro-3-iodide (blue).



CPC







(A) Control, Pim1-NLS, and mito-Pim1 CPCs were treated with 250nM of STS for 40 hours and analyzed by flow cytometry to determine the number of Annexin V+, 7AAD+ cells. Data are expressed as fold change compared to respective controls treated with STS (n=1).





CPCs expressing nuclear Pim-1 and mitochondrial Pim-1 were plated and incubated with MTT reagent for 4 hours at Day 1 and Day 3. Samples were compared to appropriate controls (nuclear GFP, mitochondrial GFP, GFP and Pim-1).

CONCLUSION OF THE DISSERTATION

A revolution in the way we currently treat heart disease has begun, spurred on by the unmet need for cardiac repair and regeneration after pathological insult. While initial results from adoptively transferred stem cells are hopeful, optimism is stymied by the modest improvements routinely seen in experimental studies. Although these findings offer hope for a novel modality of treatment, the benefits garnered through stem cell delivery still fall short of the improvements needed for complete and successful long-term cardiac functional recovery. Fortunately, the recurrent observation that the vast majority of adoptively transferred stem cells die or vanish shortly after delivery offers insight into how researchers may be able to improve current stem cell delivery strategies (Table 1). If indeed a minority of injected stem cells survive in pathological tissue after delivery, then conceivably modification of stem cell populations with cardioprotective genes would allow for increased survival, proliferation, and regeneration leading to dramatic increases in the efficacy of repair (Figure 1 and Chapter 2).

A majority of studies thus far seem to focus on a "one or the other", paracrine vs. engraftment, explanation for cardiac improvement. However, it seems more likely that improvements are mediated by a combination of these effects. It is feasible that early survival of injected stem cells relies on paracrine factors, while long-term improvements come from engraftment and differentiation of the adoptively transferred stem cell population.

109

Modification of CPCs with nuclear Akt or Pim-1 resulted in enhanced progenitor cell proliferation. These results are consistent with previous studies demonstrating the pro-proliferative effects of Akt and Pim-1 kinase. However, the success of treating damaged hearts with these genetically modified CPCs was strikingly different. Our data demonstrated CPCs modified to overexpress nuclear Akt resulted in enhanced proliferation, however abrogated lineage commitment in vitro and in vivo. Formation of de novo myocardium was not observed in hearts of animals that received CPCeA. In vivo, lack of lineage commitment inhibited the formation of both myocyte and vascular lineages needed to restore cardiac structure and function. Further evidence supporting overexpression of nuclear Akt repressed lineage commitment was demonstrated using an Akt inhibitor. When CPCeA were incubated with an Akt inhibitor and induced to differentiate, statistically significant increases in cardiac TnT transcript were observed. These results indicate CPC differentiation is sensitive to the amount of Akt expressed within the cellular system and that precise regulation of Akt may dictate whether the cell should proliferate or differentiate. Although these results may seem at odds with studies demonstrating nuclear Akt is cardioprotective, the majority of these studies investigate the cardioprotective effect within the myocyte population and not within the stem cell population. Overexpression of nuclear Akt in a non-proliferating cell type within the adult myocardium may impart only protective effects, as pro-proliferative effects may not be stimulated in a noncycling population.

Interestingly, our data demonstrate CPCs modified with Pim-1 kinase, a downstream target of Akt, were able to mitigate cardiac damage. Long-term, 32-week improvements, in both myocardial structure and function, were observed when compared to unmodified cells. Hearts of animals that received Pim-1 modified CPCs had increased numbers of cycling CPCs, indicating enhanced proliferation *in vivo*. However the most striking difference between animals that received CPCeA and CPCeP was observed in the ability of CPCeP to terminally differentiate *in vivo*. Quantitative results demonstrated CPCeP were able to regenerate de novo myocardium, with a tendency towards forming vascular lineages over myocytes. Taken together these results demonstrate improving cardiac regeneration relies on enhancing survival and proliferation without inhibiting differentiation of the progenitor cells pool. Additionally, our results give supporting evidence that in order to effectively repair damaged myocardium, myocytes as well as vascular lineages must be generated.

The data provided in this thesis provides direct evidence demonstrating lentiviral gene delivery can enhance regenerative cellular therapy long term. Safety concerns regarding lentiviral vectors have arisen due to integration of the desired gene into areas of the genome by which a proto-oncogene can become abnormally regulated. To address this problem, targeted integration is being explored as an effective and safe way to deliver genes where integration will not result in aberrant activation of endogenous protooncogenic genes. Although safety regarding the use of genetically modified stem cells currently remains a major issue of contention, successful treatment of a handful of diseases has been achieved through the delivery of genetically corrected stem cells. Some of the most promising studies have shown that delivery of a functional ADA gene can cure patients who suffer from severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) (99, 129, 131-134). These results, albeit not in the cardiovascular system, provide hope for a novel treatment using genetic modification to deliver cardioprotective genes to stem cells, providing cells with an increased capacity to proliferate and survive in the damaged myocardium. Ultimately, appropriate viral vector selection largely relies on the target cells as well as the length of time of desired gene expression.

Many unanswered questions remain in the search for an effective stem cell therapy to treat cardiovascular disease. However, the data provided in this thesis advances the concept of ex vivo stem cell gene therapy to enhance cardiogenesis and demonstrates CPC commitment is essential to the regenerative response. In conclusion, our results provide direct evidence that enhancing stem cell survival without inhibiting lineage commitment allows for dramatic improvements in tissue regeneration. Our results provide a platform for future studies investigating pathways regulating differentiation of progenitor cells that may be able to further advance the concept of safe and effective ex vivo gene therapy.

REFERENCES

- 1. Segers, V.F., and Lee, R.T. 2008. Stem-cell therapy for cardiac disease. *Nature* 451:937-942.
- Tomescot, A., Leschik, J., Bellamy, V., Dubois, G., Messas, E., Bruneval, P., Desnos, M., Hagege, A.A., Amit, M., Itskovitz, J., et al. 2007. Differentiation in vivo of cardiac committed human embryonic stem cells in postmyocardial infarcted rats. Stem Cells 25:2200-2205.
- 3. Linke, A., Muller, P., Nurzynska, D., Casarsa, C., Torella, D., Nascimbene, A., Castaldo, C., Cascapera, S., Bohm, M., Quaini, F., et al. 2005. Stem cells in the dog heart are self-renewing, clonogenic, and multipotent and regenerate infarcted myocardium, improving cardiac function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:8966-8971.
- 4. Tillmanns, J., Rota, M., Hosoda, T., Misao, Y., Esposito, G., Gonzalez, A., Vitale, S., Parolin, C., Yasuzawa-Amano, S., Muraski, J., et al. 2008. Formation of large coronary arteries by cardiac progenitor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:1668-1673.
- 5. Rota, M., Kajstura, J., Hosoda, T., Bearzi, C., Vitale, S., Esposito, G., Iaffaldano, G., Padin-Iruegas, M.E., Gonzalez, A., Rizzi, R., et al. 2007. Bone marrow cells adopt the cardiomyogenic fate in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:17783-17788.
- 6. Kajstura, J., Rota, M., Whang, B., Cascapera, S., Hosoda, T., Bearzi, C., Nurzynska, D., Kasahara, H., Zias, E., Bonafe, M., et al. 2005. Bone marrow cells differentiate in cardiac cell lineages after infarction independently of cell fusion. *Circ Res* 96:127-137.
- 7. Tan, M.Y., Zhi, W., Wei, R.Q., Huang, Y.C., Zhou, K.P., Tan, B., Deng, L., Luo, J.C., Li, X.Q., Xie, H.Q., et al. 2009. Repair of infarcted myocardium using mesenchymal stem cell seeded small intestinal submucosa in rabbits. *Biomaterials* 30:3234-3240.
- 8. Paul, D., Samuel, S.M., and Maulik, N. 2009. Mesenchymal Stem Cell: Present challenges and prospective cellular cardiomyoplasty approaches for myocardial regeneration. *Antioxid Redox Signal*.

- 9. Fukuda, K. 2003. Regeneration of cardiomyocytes from bone marrow: Use of mesenchymal stem cell for cardiovascular tissue engineering. Cytotechnology 41:165-175.
- 10. Huang, N.F., and Li, S. 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells for vascular regeneration. *Regen Med* 3:877-892.
- 11. Shi, R.Z., and Li, Q.P. 2008. Improving outcome of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells for ischemic heart disease. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 376:247-250.
- 12. Schafer, R., and Northoff, H. 2008. Cardioprotection and cardiac regeneration by mesenchymal stem cells. *Panminerva Med* 50:31-39.
- 13. Ohnishi, S., Ohgushi, H., Kitamura, S., and Nagaya, N. 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of heart failure. *Int J Hematol* 86:17-21.
- 14. Schuleri, K.H., Boyle, A.J., and Hare, J.M. 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac regenerative therapy. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*:195-218.
- 15. Leri, A., Kajstura, J., and Anversa, P. 2005. Cardiac stem cells and mechanisms of myocardial regeneration. *Physiol Rev* 85:1373-1416.
- 16. Urbanek, K., Rota, M., Cascapera, S., Bearzi, C., Nascimbene, A., De Angelis, A., Hosoda, T., Chimenti, S., Baker, M., Limana, F., et al. 2005. Cardiac stem cells possess growth factor-receptor systems that after activation regenerate the infarcted myocardium, improving ventricular function and long-term survival. *Circ Res* 97:663-673.
- Bearzi, C., Rota, M., Hosoda, T., Tillmanns, J., Nascimbene, A., De Angelis, A., Yasuzawa-Amano, S., Trofimova, I., Siggins, R.W., Lecapitaine, N., et al. 2007. Human cardiac stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:14068-14073.
- 18. Kajstura, J., Urbanek, K., Rota, M., Bearzi, C., Hosoda, T., Bolli, R., Anversa, P., and Leri, A. 2008. Cardiac stem cells and myocardial disease. J Mol Cell Cardiol 45:505-513.

- 19. Srinivas, G., Anversa, P., and Frishman, W.H. 2009. Cytokines and myocardial regeneration: a novel treatment option for acute myocardial infarction. *Cardiol Rev* 17:1-9.
- Rota, M., Padin-Iruegas, M.E., Misao, Y., De Angelis, A., Maestroni, S., Ferreira-Martins, J., Fiumana, E., Rastaldo, R., Arcarese, M.L., Mitchell, T.S., et al. 2008. Local activation or implantation of cardiac progenitor cells rescues scarred infarcted myocardium improving cardiac function. Circ Res 103:107-116.
- 21. Leri, A., Kajstura, J., Anversa, P., and Frishman, W.H. 2008. Myocardial regeneration and stem cell repair. *Curr Probl Cardiol* 33:91-153.
- 22. Urbanek, K., Cesselli, D., Rota, M., Nascimbene, A., De Angelis, A., Hosoda, T., Bearzi, C., Boni, A., Bolli, R., Kajstura, J., et al. 2006. Stem cell niches in the adult mouse heart. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103:9226-9231.
- 23. Beltrami, A.P., Barlucchi, L., Torella, D., Baker, M., Limana, F., Chimenti, S., Kasahara, H., Rota, M., Musso, E., Urbanek, K., et al. 2003. Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. *Cell* 114:763-776.
- 24. Gonzalez, A., Rota, M., Nurzynska, D., Misao, Y., Tillmanns, J., Ojaimi, C., Padin-Iruegas, M.E., Muller, P., Esposito, G., Bearzi, C., et al. 2008. Activation of cardiac progenitor cells reverses the failing heart senescent phenotype and prolongs lifespan. *Circ Res* 102:597-606.
- 25. Fransioli, J., Bailey, B., Gude, N.A., Cottage, C.T., Muraski, J.A., Emmanuel, G., Wu, W., Alvarez, R., Rubio, M., Ottolenghi, S., et al. 2008. Evolution of the c-kit-positive cell response to pathological challenge in the myocardium. *Stem Cells* 26:1315-1324.
- Urbanek, K., Torella, D., Sheikh, F., De Angelis, A., Nurzynska, D., Silvestri, F., Beltrami, C.A., Bussani, R., Beltrami, A.P., Quaini, F., et al. 2005. Myocardial regeneration by activation of multipotent cardiac stem cells in ischemic heart failure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:8692-8697.
- 27. Phillips, M.I., and Tang, Y.L. 2008. Genetic modification of stem cells for transplantation. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 60:160-172.

- 29. Mavilio, F., and Ferrari, G. 2008. Genetic modification of somatic stem cells. The progress, problems and prospects of a new therapeutic technology. *EMBO Rep* 9 Suppl 1:S64-69.
- 30. Duan, H.F., Wu, C.T., Wu, D.L., Lu, Y., Liu, H.J., Ha, X.Q., Zhang, Q.W., Wang, H., Jia, X.X., and Wang, L.S. 2003. Treatment of myocardial ischemia with bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing hepatocyte growth factor. *Mol Ther* 8:467-474.
- 31. Guo, Y., He, J., Wu, J., Yang, L., Dai, S., Tan, X., and Liang, L. 2008. Locally overexpressing hepatocyte growth factor prevents postischemic heart failure by inhibition of apoptosis via calcineurinmediated pathway and angiogenesis. *Arch Med Res* 39:179-188.
- 32. Iwasaki, M., Adachi, Y., Nishiue, T., Minamino, K., Suzuki, Y., Zhang, Y., Nakano, K., Koike, Y., Wang, J., Mukaide, H., et al. 2005. Hepatocyte growth factor delivered by ultrasound-mediated destruction of microbubbles induces proliferation of cardiomyocytes and amelioration of left ventricular contractile function in Doxorubicininduced cardiomyopathy. *Stem Cells* 23:1589-1597.
- Li, Z., Gu, T.X., and Zhang, Y.H. 2008. Hepatocyte growth factor combined with insulin like growth factor-1 improves expression of GATA-4 in mesenchymal stem cells cocultured with cardiomyocytes. Chin Med J (Engl) 121:336-340.
- 34. Ma, D.C., Yang, Z.J., Wang, W., Xu, S.L., Zhang, Y.Q., Zhou, F., Chen, B., Xu, Z.Q., Cao, K.J., and Ma, W.Z. 2006. [Hepatocyte growth factor did not enhance the effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells transplantation on cardiac repair in a porcine acute myocardial infarction model]. Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi 34:119-122.
- 35. Roggia, C., Ukena, C., Bohm, M., and Kilter, H. 2007. Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) enhances cardiac commitment of differentiating embryonic stem cells by activating PI3 kinase. *Exp Cell Res* 313:921-930.

- Yang, Z., Wang, W., Ma, D., Zhang, Y., Wang, L., Zhang, Y., Xu, S., Chen, B., Miao, D., Cao, K., et al. 2007. Recruitment of stem cells by hepatocyte growth factor via intracoronary gene transfection in the postinfarction heart failure. *Sci China C Life Sci* 50:748-752.
- 37. Yang, Z.J., Ma, D.C., Wang, W., Xu, S.L., Zhang, Y.Q., Chen, B., Zhou, F., Zhu, T.B., Wang, L.S., Xu, Z.Q., et al. 2006. Experimental study of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells combined with hepatocyte growth factor transplantation via noninfarct-relative artery in acute myocardial infarction. Gene Ther 13:1564-1568.
- 38. Zhang, S.L., Yang, Z.J., Zhang, Y.R., Dai, J., Chen, B., Jia, E.Z., Zhu, T.B., Wang, H., Wang, L.S., Wu, Z.Z., et al. 2007. [Effect of intracoronary adenovirus vector encoding hepatocyte growth factor gene on hematopoietic stem cells mobilization in patients with extensive coronary heart disease]. Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi 35:504-508.
- 39. Zhu, X.Y., Zhang, X.Z., Xu, L., Zhong, X.Y., Ding, Q., and Chen, Y.X. 2009. Transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells overexpressing hHGF into cardiac tissue. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 379:1084-1090.
- 40. Beltrami, A.P., Urbanek, K., Kajstura, J., Yan, S.M., Finato, N., Bussani, R., Nadal-Ginard, B., Silvestri, F., Leri, A., Beltrami, C.A., et al. 2001. Evidence that human cardiac myocytes divide after myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 344:1750-1757.
- 41. Li, Q., Wu, S., Li, S.Y., Lopez, F.L., Du, M., Kajstura, J., Anversa, P., and Ren, J. 2007. Cardiac-specific overexpression of insulin-like growth factor 1 attenuates aging-associated cardiac diastolic contractile dysfunction and protein damage. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 292:H1398-1403.
- 42. Muslin, A.J., and DeBosch, B. 2006. Role of Akt in cardiac growth and metabolism. Novartis Found Symp 274:118-126; discussion 126-131, 152-115, 272-116.
- 43. Gude, N., Muraski, J., Rubio, M., Kajstura, J., Schaefer, E., Anversa, P., and Sussman, M.A. 2006. Akt promotes increased cardiomyocyte cycling and expansion of the cardiac progenitor cell population. *Circ Res* 99:381-388.

- 44. McDevitt, T.C., Laflamme, M.A., and Murry, C.E. 2005. Proliferation of cardiomyocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells is mediated via the IGF/PI 3-kinase/Akt signaling pathway. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39:865-873.
- 45. Tsujita, Y., Muraski, J., Shiraishi, I., Kato, T., Kajstura, J., Anversa, P., and Sussman, M.A. 2006. Nuclear targeting of Akt antagonizes aspects of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103:11946-11951.
- 46. Shiraishi, I., Melendez, J., Ahn, Y., Skavdahl, M., Murphy, E., Welch, S., Schaefer, E., Walsh, K., Rosenzweig, A., Torella, D., et al. 2004. Nuclear targeting of Akt enhances kinase activity and survival of cardiomyocytes. *Circ Res* 94:884-891.
- 47. Rubio, M., Avitabile, D., Fischer, K., Emmanuel, G., Gude, N., Miyamoto, S., Mishra, S., Schaefer, E.M., Brown, J.H., and Sussman, M.A. 2009. Cardioprotective stimuli mediate phosphoinositide 3-kinase and phosphoinositide dependent kinase 1 nuclear accumulation in cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 47:96-103.
- 48. Sussman, M. 2007. "AKT"ing lessons for stem cells: regulation of cardiac myocyte and progenitor cell proliferation. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 17:235-240.
- Rota, M., Boni, A., Urbanek, K., Padin-Iruegas, M.E., Kajstura, T.J., Fiore, G., Kubo, H., Sonnenblick, E.H., Musso, E., Houser, S.R., et al. 2005. Nuclear targeting of Akt enhances ventricular function and myocyte contractility. *Circ Res* 97:1332-1341.
- 50. Torella, D., Rota, M., Nurzynska, D., Musso, E., Monsen, A., Shiraishi, I., Zias, E., Walsh, K., Rosenzweig, A., Sussman, M.A., et al. 2004. Cardiac stem cell and myocyte aging, heart failure, and insulin-like growth factor-1 overexpression. *Circ Res* 94:514-524.
- 51. Ahmad, N., Wang, Y., Haider, K.H., Wang, B., Pasha, Z., Uzun, O., and Ashraf, M. 2006. Cardiac protection by mitoKATP channels is dependent on Akt translocation from cytosol to mitochondria during late preconditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 290:H2402-2408.
- 52. Haider, H., Jiang, S., Idris, N.M., and Ashraf, M. 2008. IGF-1overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine activation of SDF-1alpha/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. *Circ Res* 103:1300-1308.
- 53. Wang, Y., Ahmad, N., Kudo, M., and Ashraf, M. 2004. Contribution of Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase to diazoxide-induced late preconditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 287:H1125-1131.
- 54. Wang, Y., Ahmad, N., Wani, M.A., and Ashraf, M. 2004. Hepatocyte growth factor prevents ventricular remodeling and dysfunction in mice via Akt pathway and angiogenesis. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 37:1041-1052.
- 55. Gnecchi, M., He, H., Liang, O.D., Melo, L.G., Morello, F., Mu, H., Noiseux, N., Zhang, L., Pratt, R.E., Ingwall, J.S., et al. 2005. Paracrine action accounts for marked protection of ischemic heart by Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cells. *Nat Med* 11:367-368.
- 56. Gnecchi, M., He, H., Melo, L.G., Noiseaux, N., Morello, F., de Boer, R.A., Zhang, L., Pratt, R.E., Dzau, V.J., and Ingwall, J.S. 2009. Early beneficial effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing Akt on cardiac metabolism after myocardial infarction. *Stem Cells* 27:971-979.
- 57. Gnecchi, M., He, H., Noiseux, N., Liang, O.D., Zhang, L., Morello, F., Mu, H., Melo, L.G., Pratt, R.E., Ingwall, J.S., et al. 2006. Evidence supporting paracrine hypothesis for Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cellmediated cardiac protection and functional improvement. *Faseb J* 20:661-669.
- 58. Mangi, A.A., Noiseux, N., Kong, D., He, H., Rezvani, M., Ingwall, J.S., and Dzau, V.J. 2003. Mesenchymal stem cells modified with Akt prevent remodeling and restore performance of infarcted hearts. *Nat Med* 9:1195-1201.
- Mirotsou, M., Zhang, Z., Deb, A., Zhang, L., Gnecchi, M., Noiseux, N., Mu, H., Pachori, A., and Dzau, V. 2007. Secreted frizzled related protein 2 (Sfrp2) is the key Akt-mesenchymal stem cell-released paracrine factor mediating myocardial survival and repair. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:1643-1648.

- 60. Noiseux, N., Gnecchi, M., Lopez-Ilasaca, M., Zhang, L., Solomon, S.D., Deb, A., Dzau, V.J., and Pratt, R.E. 2006. Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing Akt dramatically repair infarcted myocardium and improve cardiac function despite infrequent cellular fusion or differentiation. *Mol Ther* 14:840-850.
- 61. Shujia, J., Haider, H.K., Idris, N.M., Lu, G., and Ashraf, M. 2008. Stable therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cell-based multiple gene delivery for cardiac repair. *Cardiovasc Res* 77:525-533.
- 62. Li, Q., Guo, Y., Tan, W., Stein, A.B., Dawn, B., Wu, W.J., Zhu, X., Lu, X., Xu, X., Siddiqui, T., et al. 2006. Gene therapy with iNOS provides long-term protection against myocardial infarction without adverse functional consequences. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 290:H584-589.
- 63. Xie, X., Cao, F., Sheikh, A.Y., Li, Z., Connolly, A.J., Pei, X., Li, R.K., Robbins, R.C., and Wu, J.C. 2007. Genetic modification of embryonic stem cells with VEGF enhances cell survival and improves cardiac function. *Cloning Stem Cells* 9:549-563.
- 64. Muraski, J.A., Fischer, K.M., Wu, W., Cottage, C.T., Quijada, P., Mason, M., Din, S., Gude, N., Alvarez, R., Jr., Rota, M., et al. 2008. Pim-1 kinase antagonizes aspects of myocardial hypertrophy and compensation to pathological pressure overload. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:13889-13894.
- 65. Muraski, J.A., Rota, M., Misao, Y., Fransioli, J., Cottage, C., Gude, N., Esposito, G., Delucchi, F., Arcarese, M., Alvarez, R., et al. 2007. Pim-1 regulates cardiomyocyte survival downstream of Akt. *Nat Med* 13:1467-1475.
- 66. Wang, Z., Bhattacharya, N., Weaver, M., Petersen, K., Meyer, M., Gapter, L., and Magnuson, N.S. 2001. Pim-1: a serine/threonine kinase with a role in cell survival, proliferation, differentiation and tumorigenesis. *J Vet Sci* 2:167-179.
- 67. Katakami, N., Kaneto, H., Hao, H., Umayahara, Y., Fujitani, Y., Sakamoto, K., Gorogawa, S., Yasuda, T., Kawamori, D., Kajimoto, Y., et al. 2004. Role of pim-1 in smooth muscle cell proliferation. *J Biol Chem* 279:54742-54749.

- 68. Aksoy, I., Sakabedoyan, C., Bourillot, P.Y., Malashicheva, A.B., Mancip, J., Knoblauch, K., Afanassieff, M., and Savatier, P. 2007. Self-renewal of murine embryonic stem cells is supported by the serine/threonine kinases Pim-1 and Pim-3. *Stem Cells* 25:2996-3004.
- 69. Zhang, Y., Wang, Z., Li, X., and Magnuson, N.S. 2008. Pim kinasedependent inhibition of c-Myc degradation. *Oncogene* 27:4809-4819.
- 70. Bhattacharya, N., Wang, Z., Davitt, C., McKenzie, I.F., Xing, P.X., and Magnuson, N.S. 2002. Pim-1 associates with protein complexes necessary for mitosis. *Chromosoma* 111:80-95.
- 71. Wang, Z., Bhattacharya, N., Mixter, P.F., Wei, W., Sedivy, J., and Magnuson, N.S. 2002. Phosphorylation of the cell cycle inhibitor p21Cip1/WAF1 by Pim-1 kinase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1593:45-55.
- 72. Zhang, Y., Wang, Z., and Magnuson, N.S. 2007. Pim-1 kinase-dependent phosphorylation of p21Cip1/WAF1 regulates its stability and cellular localization in H1299 cells. *Mol Cancer Res* 5:909-922.
- 73. Morishita, D., Katayama, R., Sekimizu, K., Tsuruo, T., and Fujita, N. 2008. Pim kinases promote cell cycle progression by phosphorylating and down-regulating p27Kip1 at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels. *Cancer Res* 68:5076-5085.
- 74. Siddiqi, S., Gude, N., Hosoda, T., Muraski, J., Rubio, M., Emmanuel, G., Fransioli, J., Vitale, S., Parolin, C., D'Amario, D., et al. 2008. Myocardial induction of nucleostemin in response to postnatal growth and pathological challenge. *Circ Res* 103:89-97.
- 75. Gude, N.A., Emmanuel, G., Wu, W., Cottage, C.T., Fischer, K., Quijada, P., Muraski, J.A., Alvarez, R., Rubio, M., Schaefer, E., et al. 2008. Activation of Notch-mediated protective signaling in the myocardium. *Circ Res* 102:1025-1035.
- 76. Cook, S.A., Matsui, T., Li, L., and Rosenzweig, A. 2002. Transcriptional effects of chronic Akt activation in the heart. *J Biol Chem* 277:22528-22533.

- 77. Koc, O.N., and Gerson, S.L. 2003. Akt helps stem cells heal the heart. Nat Med 9:1109-1110.
- 78. Li, Y., Yu, X., Lin, S., Li, X., Zhang, S., and Song, Y.H. 2007. Insulin-like growth factor 1 enhances the migratory capacity of mesenchymal stem cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 356:780-784.
- 79. Lim, S.Y., Kim, Y.S., Ahn, Y., Jeong, M.H., Hong, M.H., Joo, S.Y., Nam, K.I., Cho, J.G., Kang, P.M., and Park, J.C. 2006. The effects of mesenchymal stem cells transduced with Akt in a porcine myocardial infarction model. *Cardiovasc Res* 70:530-542.
- Ceci, M., Gallo, P., Santonastasi, M., Grimaldi, S., Latronico, M.V., Pitisci, A., Missol-Kolka, E., Scimia, M.C., Catalucci, D., Hilfiker-Kleiner, D., et al. 2007. Cardiac-specific overexpression of E40K active Akt prevents pressure overload-induced heart failure in mice by increasing angiogenesis and reducing apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* 14:1060-1062.
- 81. Dimmeler, S., Fleming, I., FissIthaler, B., Hermann, C., Busse, R., and Zeiher, A.M. 1999. Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. *Nature* 399:601-605.
- 82. Fujio, Y., Nguyen, T., Wencker, D., Kitsis, R.N., and Walsh, K. 2000. Akt promotes survival of cardiomyocytes in vitro and protects against ischemia-reperfusion injury in mouse heart. *Circulation* 101:660-667.
- 83. Fujio, Y., and Walsh, K. 1999. Akt mediates cytoprotection of endothelial cells by vascular endothelial growth factor in an anchorage-dependent manner. *J Biol Chem* 274:16349-16354.
- 84. Gratton, J.P., Morales-Ruiz, M., Kureishi, Y., Fulton, D., Walsh, K., and Sessa, W.C. 2001. Akt down-regulation of p38 signaling provides a novel mechanism of vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated cytoprotection in endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 276:30359-30365.
- Hixon, M.L., Muro-Cacho, C., Wagner, M.W., Obejero-Paz, C., Millie, E., Fujio, Y., Kureishi, Y., Hassold, T., Walsh, K., and Gualberto, A. 2000. Akt1/PKB upregulation leads to vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy and polyploidization. J Clin Invest 106:1011-1020.

- 86. Jiang, S., Haider, H., Idris, N.M., Salim, A., and Ashraf, M. 2006. Supportive interaction between cell survival signaling and angiocompetent factors enhances donor cell survival and promotes angiomyogenesis for cardiac repair. *Circ Res* 99:776-784.
- 87. Schiekofer, S., Belisle, K., Galasso, G., Schneider, J.G., Boehm, B.O., Burster, T., Schmitz, G., and Walsh, K. 2008. Angiogenic-regulatory network revealed by molecular profiling heart tissue following Akt1 induction in endothelial cells. *Angiogenesis* 11:289-299.
- 88. Shiojima, I., and Walsh, K. 2002. Role of Akt signaling in vascular homeostasis and angiogenesis. *Circ Res* 90:1243-1250.
- 89. Shiojima, I., and Walsh, K. 2006. Regulation of cardiac growth and coronary angiogenesis by the Akt/PKB signaling pathway. *Genes Dev* 20:3347-3365.
- 90. Takahashi, A., Kureishi, Y., Yang, J., Luo, Z., Guo, K., Mukhopadhyay, D., Ivashchenko, Y., Branellec, D., and Walsh, K. 2002. Myogenic Akt signaling regulates blood vessel recruitment during myofiber growth. *Mol Cell Biol* 22:4803-4814.
- 91. Catalucci, D., and Condorelli, G. 2006. Effects of Akt on cardiac myocytes: location counts. *Circ Res* 99:339-341.
- 92. Phung, T.L., Ziv, K., Dabydeen, D., Eyiah-Mensah, G., Riveros, M., Perruzzi, C., Sun, J., Monahan-Earley, R.A., Shiojima, I., Nagy, J.A., et al. 2006. Pathological angiogenesis is induced by sustained Akt signaling and inhibited by rapamycin. *Cancer Cell* 10:159-170.
- 93. Camper-Kirby, D., Welch, S., Walker, A., Shiraishi, I., Setchell, K.D., Schaefer, E., Kajstura, J., Anversa, P., and Sussman, M.A. 2001. Myocardial Akt activation and gender: increased nuclear activity in females versus males. *Circ Res* 88:1020-1027.
- 94. Miyamoto, S., Rubio, M., and Sussman, M.A. 2009. Nuclear and mitochondrial signalling Akts in cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* 82:272-285.

- 95. Fischer, K.M., Cottage, C.T., Wu, W., Din, S., Gude, N.A., Avitabile, D., Quijada, P., Collins, B.L., Fransioli, J., and Sussman, M.A. 2009. Enhancement of myocardial regeneration through genetic engineering of cardiac progenitor cells expressing Pim-1 kinase. *Circulation* 120:2077-2087.
- 96. Peltier, J., O'Neill, A., and Schaffer, D.V. 2007. PI3K/Akt and CREB regulate adult neural hippocampal progenitor proliferation and differentiation. *Dev Neurobiol* 67:1348-1361.
- 97. Kato, S., Ding, J., and Du, K. 2007. Differential activation of CREB by Akt1 and Akt2. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 354:1061-1066.
- 98. Xiao, X., Li, B.X., Mitton, B., Ikeda, A., and Sakamoto, K.M. Targeting CREB for cancer therapy: friend or foe. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 10:384-391.
- 99. Gaspar, H.B., Bjorkegren, E., Parsley, K., Gilmour, K.C., King, D., Sinclair, J., Zhang, F., Giannakopoulos, A., Adams, S., Fairbanks, L.D., et al. 2006. Successful reconstitution of immunity in ADA-SCID by stem cell gene therapy following cessation of PEG-ADA and use of mild preconditioning. *Mol Ther* 14:505-513.
- 100. Bachmann, M., Kosan, C., Xing, P.X., Montenarh, M., Hoffmann, I., and Moroy, T. 2006. The oncogenic serine/threonine kinase Pim-1 directly phosphorylates and activates the G2/M specific phosphatase Cdc25C. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 38:430-443.
- 101. Hammerman, P.S., Fox, C.J., Birnbaum, M.J., and Thompson, C.B. 2005. Pim and Akt oncogenes are independent regulators of hematopoietic cell growth and survival. *Blood* 105:4477-4483.
- 102. Zippo, A., De Robertis, A., Bardelli, M., Galvagni, F., and Oliviero, S. 2004. Identification of Flk-1 target genes in vasculogenesis: Pim-1 is required for endothelial and mural cell differentiation in vitro. *Blood* 103:4536-4544.
- 103. Swan, C.H., Buhler, B., Steinberger, P., Tschan, M.P., Barbas, C.F., 3rd, and Torbett, B.E. 2006. T-cell protection and enrichment through lentiviral CCR5 intrabody gene delivery. *Gene Ther* 13:1480-1492.

- 104. Miyoshi, H., Smith, K.A., Mosier, D.E., Verma, I.M., and Torbett, B.E. 1999. Transduction of human CD34+ cells that mediate long-term engraftment of NOD/SCID mice by HIV vectors. *Science* 283:682-686.
- 105. Miyoshi, H., Blomer, U., Takahashi, M., Gage, F.H., and Verma, I.M. 1998. Development of a self-inactivating lentivirus vector. *J Virol* 72:8150-8157.
- 106. Agarwal, M., Austin, T.W., Morel, F., Chen, J., Bohnlein, E., and Plavec, I. 1998. Scaffold attachment region-mediated enhancement of retroviral vector expression in primary T cells. *J Virol* 72:3720-3728.
- 107. Auten, J., Agarwal, M., Chen, J., Sutton, R., and Plavec, I. 1999. Effect of scaffold attachment region on transgene expression in retrovirus vector-transduced primary T cells and macrophages. *Hum Gene Ther* 10:1389-1399.
- 108. Kurre, P., Morris, J., Thomasson, B., Kohn, D.B., and Kiem, H.P. 2003. Scaffold attachment region-containing retrovirus vectors improve longterm proviral expression after transplantation of GFP-modified CD34+ baboon repopulating cells. *Blood* 102:3117-3119.
- Borillo, G.A., Mason, M., Quijada, P., Volkers, M., Cottage, C., McGregor, M., Din, S., Fischer, K., Gude, N., Avitabile, D., et al. Pim-1 kinase protects mitochondrial integrity in cardiomyocytes. *Circ Res* 106:1265-1274.
- Kubo, H., Jaleel, N., Kumarapeli, A., Berretta, R.M., Bratinov, G., Shan, X., Wang, H., Houser, S.R., and Margulies, K.B. 2008. Increased cardiac myocyte progenitors in failing human hearts. *Circulation* 118:649-657.
- 111. Lyngbaek, S., Schneider, M., Hansen, J.L., and Sheikh, S.P. 2007. Cardiac regeneration by resident stem and progenitor cells in the adult heart. *Basic Res Cardiol* 102:101-114.
- 112. Urbich, C., Rossig, L., and Dimmeler, S. 2006. Restoration of cardiac function with progenitor cells. *Novartis Found Symp* 274:214-223; discussion 223-217, 272-216.

- 113. Orlic, D., Kajstura, J., Chimenti, S., Jakoniuk, I., Anderson, S.M., Li, B., Pickel, J., McKay, R., Nadal-Ginard, B., Bodine, D.M., et al. 2001. Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. *Nature* 410:701-705.
- 114. Orlic, D., Kajstura, J., Chimenti, S., Limana, F., Jakoniuk, I., Quaini, F., Nadal-Ginard, B., Bodine, D.M., Leri, A., and Anversa, P. 2001. Mobilized bone marrow cells repair the infarcted heart, improving function and survival. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:10344-10349.
- 115. Dai, Y., Xu, M., Wang, Y., Pasha, Z., Li, T., and Ashraf, M. 2007. HIF-1alpha induced-VEGF overexpression in bone marrow stem cells protects cardiomyocytes against ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 42:1036-1044.
- 116. Haider, H., Sim, E.K., Lei, Y., and Ashraf, M. 2005. Cell-based ex vivo delivery of angiogenic growth factors for cardiac repair. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25:e144.
- 117. Christoforou, N., and Gearhart, J.D. 2007. Stem cells and their potential in cell-based cardiac therapies. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 49:396-413.
- 118. Haider, H.K., and Ashraf, M. 2008. Strategies to promote donor cell survival: Combining preconditioning approach with stem cell transplantation. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*.
- 119. Deb, K.D., and Sarda, K. 2008. Human embryonic stem cells: preclinical perspectives. J Transl Med 6:7.
- 120. Jiang, J., Slivova, V., Harvey, K., Valachovicova, T., and Sliva, D. 2004. Ganoderma lucidum suppresses growth of breast cancer cells through the inhibition of Akt/NF-kappaB signaling. *Nutr Cancer* 49:209-216.
- 121. Aho, T.L., Sandholm, J., Peltola, K.J., Mankonen, H.P., Lilly, M., and Koskinen, P.J. 2004. Pim-1 kinase promotes inactivation of the proapoptotic Bad protein by phosphorylating it on the Ser112 gatekeeper site. *FEBS Lett* 571:43-49.
- 122. Macdonald, A., Campbell, D.G., Toth, R., McLauchlan, H., Hastie, C.J., and Arthur, J.S. 2006. Pim kinases phosphorylate multiple sites on Bad

and promote 14-3-3 binding and dissociation from Bcl-XL. BMC Cell Biol 7:1.

- 123. Chen, W.W., Chan, D.C., Donald, C., Lilly, M.B., and Kraft, A.S. 2005. Pim family kinases enhance tumor growth of prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res* 3:443-451.
- 124. Chiang, W.F., Yen, C.Y., Lin, C.N., Liaw, G.A., Chiu, C.T., Hsia, Y.J., and Liu, S.Y. 2006. Up-regulation of a serine-threonine kinase protooncogene Pim-1 in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 35:740-745.
- 125. Reiser-Erkan, C., Erkan, M., Pan, Z., Bekasi, S., Giese, N.A., Streit, S., Michalski, C.W., Friess, H., and Kleeff, J. 2008. Hypoxia-inducible protooncogene Pim-1 is a prognostic marker in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Biol Ther* 7:1352-1359.
- 126. Mumenthaler, S.M., Ng, P.Y., Hodge, A., Bearss, D., Berk, G., Kanekal, S., Redkar, S., Taverna, P., Agus, D.B., and Jain, A. 2009. Pharmacologic inhibition of Pim kinases alters prostate cancer cell growth and resensitizes chemoresistant cells to taxanes. *Mol Cancer Ther* 8:2882-2893.
- 127. Cottage, C.T., Bailey, B., Fischer, K.M., Avitable, D., Collins, B., Tuck, S., Quijada, P., Gude, N., Alvarez, R., Muraski, J., et al. Cardiac progenitor cell cycling stimulated by pim-1 kinase. *Circ Res* 106:891-901.
- 128. Gozgit, J.M., Bebernitz, G., Patil, P., Ye, M., Parmentier, J., Wu, J., Su, N., Wang, T., Ioannidis, S., Davies, A., et al. 2008. Effects of the JAK2 inhibitor, AZ960, on Pim/BAD/BCL-xL survival signaling in the human JAK2 V617F cell line SET-2. *J Biol Chem* 283:32334-32343.
- 129. Mortellaro, A., Hernandez, R.J., Guerrini, M.M., Carlucci, F., Tabucchi, A., Ponzoni, M., Sanvito, F., Doglioni, C., Di Serio, C., Biasco, L., et al. 2006. Ex vivo gene therapy with lentiviral vectors rescues adenosine deaminase (ADA)-deficient mice and corrects their immune and metabolic defects. *Blood* 108:2979-2988.
- 130. Dawn, B., Guo, Y., Rezazadeh, A., Huang, Y., Stein, A.B., Hunt, G., Tiwari, S., Varma, J., Gu, Y., Prabhu, S.D., et al. 2006. Postinfarct cytokine

therapy regenerates cardiac tissue and improves left ventricular function. *Circ Res* 98:1098-1105.

- 131. Aiuti, A., Brigida, I., Ferrua, F., Cappelli, B., Chiesa, R., Marktel, S., and Roncarolo, M.G. 2009. Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy for adenosine deaminase deficient-SCID. *Immunol Res* 44:150-159.
- 132. Aiuti, A., Cassani, B., Andolfi, G., Mirolo, M., Biasco, L., Recchia, A., Urbinati, F., Valacca, C., Scaramuzza, S., Aker, M., et al. 2007. Multilineage hematopoietic reconstitution without clonal selection in ADA-SCID patients treated with stem cell gene therapy. J Clin Invest 117:2233-2240.
- 133. Silver, J.N., and Flotte, T.R. 2008. Towards a rAAV-based gene therapy for ADA-SCID: from ADA deficiency to current and future treatment strategies. *Pharmacogenomics* 9:947-968.
- 134. Taupin, P. 2006. Drug evaluation: ADA-transduced hematopoietic stem cell therapy for ADA-SCID. *IDrugs* 9:423-430.